31943 National Library Bibliothèque nationale **CANADIAN THESES** THÈSES CANADIENNES of Canada du Canada **ON MICROFICHE** SUR MICROFICHE William NAME OF AUTHOR NOM DE L'AUTEUR John Brown TITLE OF THESIS TITRE DE LA THESE_ 0- What was 4515 Tra a ann Business <u>in i</u>a rums and. UNIVERSITY UNIVERSITE anvers 500 DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED No 1 Pr Science 5 YEAR THIS DEGREE CONFERRED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE GRADE ノをッフ NAME OF SUPERVISOR/NOM DU DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE. etersen Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHE-CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse, et of the film. de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film. The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherthèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés wise reproduced without the author's written permission. ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur. DATED/DATE ADE SIGNED / SIGNE PERMANENT ADDRESS/RÉSIDENCE FIXÉ 10 owson Maritoba ٤

NL-91 (3-74)

National Library of Canada

Cataloguing Branch Canadian Theses Division

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction du catalogage Division des thèses canadiennes

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, spublished tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

AVIS

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont paş microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

NL-339 (3/77)

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

AN ANALYSIS OF PROFESSIONAL FARM BUSINESS MANAGEMENT

TRAINING NEEDS AND PROGRAMS IN CANADA

Ъy WILLIAM JOHN BROWN

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRAUDATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER • OF SCIENCE

>

IN

RURAL SOCIOLOGY

DEPARTMENT OF RURAL ECONOMY

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

SPRING, 1977

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies, for acceptance, a thesis entitled "An Analysis of Professional Farm-Business Management Training Needs and Programs in Canada" submitted by William J. Brown in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

iterin

Supervisor

hlur 21

Date APRIL 14+1 1977

ABSTRACT

The increasing importance of farm business management (FBM) in Canada's agriculture has created a need to examine training requirements and programs for professional FBM counsellors. That is the primary purpose of this study. First, university graduate and undergraduate courses at the eight Canadian universities offering courses towards degrees in agriculture and inservice training programs at government FBM agencies were investigated and analyzed. Secondly, a sample of professionals working in FBM advisory roles across Canada were asked for their opinions on skill requirements, skill acquisition and training needs. The data were analyzed on a professional category, regional and length of service basis.

It was found that university training of these professionals provides an adequate base upon which the graduate can further specialize and expand. However, university training was not without its faults. Findings suggested over specialization at the undergraduate level and overemphasis of management tools a techniques instead of basic principles and concepts. Inservice training programs offered by the government FBM agencies do not meet their potential as training sources. In general the agencies offered short courses on specific subjects related to FBM where a comprehensive general FBM course was needed.

The professionals surveyed generally perceived their skill and training program needs to be the same no matter from what professional category, region of Canada or length of service grouping they came. They also felt that most of their skills were acquired on the job rather than 'from university or inservice training, however only 14% of the respondents

ív

majored in agricultural eco omics while at university. In general, the respondents perceived that communicating, counselling and interviewing, farm record analysis, financial management and developing and evaluating alternative farm business plans were the most important areas in which skill and training programs were needed.

5

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The completion of this thesis could not have been accomplished without the cooperation and assistance of many people. Dr. Alf Petersen, my supervisor, gave me advice and assistance throughout the entire project. Dr. Mel Lerohl and Wayne Lamble offered constructive critism on the subject matter of the text.

To the staff of the Department of Rural Economy in particular Ronn Bence, Clair Shier, Gail Johnston, Peggy Lowrey, Evelyn Shapka and others I owe a great deal. They tolerated me for the last year and a half and gave me much needed assistance in their respective areas.

I would also like to thank the many people I interviewed and those who sent back completed questionnaires. Without you the study could not have been completed. I hope the results will assist you in your work.

Last but not least, I thank my wife, Lillas. She constantly gave me encouragement and assistance throughout the entire thesis.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

,	Pag
ABSTRACT	ív
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
LIST OF TABLES	· · · · · · x
CHAPTER	•
I INTRODUCTION	· · · · · · . 1
Background	. 1
Objectives	2
Orientation to the Subject of Farm Business Man	nagement 3
Farm Business Management Defined	. 3
A Brief History of Farm Business Management	4
The 'Science' of Farm Business Management	6
The Development of Farm Management into Farm	
Management A Brief Mictory of Norm Distance Marine (D	8
A Brief History of Farm Business Management Ext	tension 10
II A REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE	14
Perceived Training Needs of Agricultural Extens	sion Workers 14
Skill Needs in Farm Business Management Extensi	on . 15
The Role of the Farm Business Management Con	sultant 16
Survey on the Present Status and Future Prog	rams and
Needs of Farm Management Extension in Canad	la 17
Report on Farm Business Management Counselli	ng 19
Farm Business Management Training Programs at t	
University Level	· 22
Agricultural Education	.22
Agricultural Economics Education	23
Farm Business Management Education Agricultural Extension Education	26
Farm Business Management Inservice Training at	. 27
Government Agencies	30
DACUM and CAP + Two Systems of Developing Train	- 29
Materials Based on Skill Needs	30
The DACUM Approach	30
The CAP Approach	32
A Comparison of DACUM and CAP	34
III STUDY DESIGN AND DATA COLLECTION	
Study Design	. 37
Universities	37
	. 37

Ŷ

. 1990-

TABLE OF CONTENTS

9

C

`	Р
Government Agencies	
Survey of Agency Professionals	
Method of Analysis	
Data Collection	
Universities	
Government Agencies	
Survey of Agency Professionals	
IV ANALYSIS OF DATA	•••
Farm Business Management Education at Universities	•
- An Overview of the Universities	
An.Overview by the Competency Areas in Farm Business Management Counselling	
Farm Business Managemant Inservice Training at	
Government Agencies	-
Inservice Training at Government Agencies - Philosophy,	
Approach and Plans for the Future	
Inservice Training at Government Agencies - Summary	1
of the Past Three Years	
Survey of Agency Professionals	
The Respondent Sample	
Respondents' Perceived Skill Needs	
Perceived Skill Acquisition Sources	
Perceived Importance of University Courses	
Inservice Training	
Other Courses of Assistance in Farm Business Manage-	
ment Counselling	-
Respondent Suggestions for Future Training of Farm	
Business Management Counsellors]
	-
V SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	·]
Summary	1
Conclusions	1
Farm Business Management Education at Universities	1
Farm Business Management Inservice Training at	
Government Agencies	1
Survey of Agency Professionals	1
Recommendations	1
University	- 1
Inservice Training	1
General	1

TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

Ċ

Ċ

c

) `	*					•	*																								Page	
	APPENDIX	A	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	. •	•	•	•	•	•	•			•	•	•	•	° 131	
	APPENDIX	B	• ·	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	1 34	
	APPENDIX	С	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•				•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	•	141	
	APPENDIX	D	•								•	•		•																	147	

ix

LIST OF TABLES

Tab	le.	Se (Page
1	Selected Canadian Agricultural Statistics,1901-1971	
2	Responses to the Report on Farm Business Management Counselling	9
) 3	Areas of Specialization, Percentage of Agricultural Economics Majors in the Agriculture Faculty, Farm Business Management Class Sizes, Percentage of Non Agricultural Economics Majors in the Farm Business Management Classes and Student Course Counselling Procedures at the Eight Universities Visited	20
• 4	Courses Offered in Competency Areas A and B at the Universities Visited	
5	A Description of the General Farm Business Management Courses Offered by the Universities Visited	57
6	Contents of the Inservice Training Courses Offered by t Government Agencies in the Last Three Years	
7	Total Number of Agency Professionasl Submitted, Sampled and Returned by Government Agency and Professional Category	
8	Respondents' Highest Educational Attainment, Average Experience in Agricultural Extension and Percentage of Time spent in FBM Counselling	89 € 90
9.	Formal Education of Respondents (in percentages)	92
10.	An Analysis by Average Score and Rank Order of the FBM Skills Rated by the 183 Respondents Analysed	93
11.	Average Rating and Rankings of the Competency Areas on the DACUM Chart for FBM Counselling by all Respondents with at Least Bachelor Degrees	99
12.	Perceived Skill Acquisition by Competency Area For All 183 Respondents (in percentages)	101
13.	Competency Areas in Which 25% or More of Each Profes- sional Category Feel They Acquired Competence from Either University of Inservice Training	101
14.	Competency Areas and Importance and Use Rankings in Which 25% or More in Each Professional Category Feel They are Incompetent	104

х

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
15.	University Course Type - Time Spent While at University and Importance to the Job of FBM Counselling for all 183 Respondents Taken as a Group	106
16.	Inservice Training - Days Received, Importance to Job and Training Needed - Average Scores and Rankings by all Respondents with at Least Bachelor Degrees	109
17.	Other Courses of Assistance in FBM Counselling	112
18.	Respondents' Suggestions for Future Training of FBM Counsellors	114

xi

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Background

Farm Business Management (FBM) is one of the newer agricultural sciences to emerge and develop across Canada. While the universities in Quebec, Ontario and Saskatchewan have had a FBM orientation in their agricultural economics programs for many years, those in other provinces have been of more recent origin. The last two decades have seen the almost universal development of FBM service and educational programs for practicing farmers across all of the provinces in Canada. During this period, all of the provincial extension agencies established FBM units in one form or another within their departments of agriculture, and began to offer various programs and services to farmers in order to improve their management ability.

The federal government has also found it expedient to support FBM education and extension through such programs as Canfarm, a joint federal provincial, university program of computerized record keeping and farm planning and the Small Farm Development Program (SFDP), a federal provincial agreement to provide financial and management assistance to marginal farmers. Furthermore, private agencies such as banks, farm supply companies, and private consultants have entered the field of FBM advisory and counselling service.; This increasing FBM activity is obviously based on the increasing needs of farm operators, who now face the growing problems of managing rapidly developing new technologies and sharply increased capital investments.

The Canada Farm Management Committee (CFMC) established in 1968,

Serves the purpose of communication and coordination between universities, federal and provincial governments, and private agencies on FBM matters. The CFMC is one of the sixteen Canada committees representing various disciplines in the agriculture industry through the parent organization, the Canadian Agriculture Services Coordinating Committee

(CASUC).

Over the past several years, the Extension-Education Sub-Committee of the CFMC has concerned itself with the status of university and inservice training of programs in FBM, and the training needs of FBM ractitioners. The following projects have been undertaken by CFMC towards this end:

- Survey on the Present Status and Future Programs and Needs of Farm Management Extension in Canada, (1970)

The setting up of a FBM counsellors' national training program using the DACUM approach to curriculum, learning and evaluation. (1973-75).¹

- An Analysis of Professional FBM Training Needs and Programs in Canada (1976-77).

The last project noted above is the title of the present study. This project has been commissioned to the Department of Rural Economy of the University of Alberta (U of Alta) through the funding of the SFDP of the Canada Department of Agriculture and arises out of the national training

program.

بر الش

1) to analyze and describe the adequacy of university undergraduate and graduate training and government inservice training for

Objectives

¹ The DACUM approach is also used in this study and is discussed in Chapter II.

professionals working in the area of FBM counselling in Canada and to make recommendations for improvements.

3

2) to discover what skills are needed and used by professionals working in the area of FBM counselling in Canada.

Orientation of the Subject of Farm Business Management

Färm Business Management Defined

Farm business management is making decisions that affect the , farm business, while keeping one's goals and objectives in mind. Many authors on FBM provide slightly different definitions which mean essentially the same. Two key points in the above definition are; the making of decisions; and the types of management decisions to be made. The decision making process is usually described as a series of sequentially related steps. Herbst, one such writer, uses a six step sequence as follows:

> 1) Define the problem; 2) Get ideas, make observations, and list major alternatives; 3) Analyze alternatives and determine probable outcome; 4) Decide which alternative to select; 5) Act on the decision once it has been made; and 6) Bear the responsibility of the outcome.¹

Herbst also lists several types of management decisions to be made. They are as follows:

1) What to produce; 2) How much to produce; (-) The kinds and amounts of resources to use; 4) The echnology to use; 5) When and where to sell and buy; and 6^{-10} we to finance the operation.²

¹ J.H. Herbst, <u>Farm Management Principles</u>, <u>Budgets</u>, <u>Plans</u>, rev. 1970, 1974, (Champaign, Illinois; Stipes Publishing Co., 1968), p.2.

² Ibid., p.1.

Making decisions of the above type constitutes a major part of FBM and thereby includes many other sciences than economics. It should also be remembered that these decisions are affected by the goals and objectives of the individual and his or her family.

Farm business management counselling is essentially FBM extension and consists of working with farmers and advising them on the many aspects of FBM. Ideally the FBM counsellor must know all the skills needed by farmers, plus those skills needed to communicate with individual farmers and groups of farmers. In addition he must have the skills to assist in carrying out programs to further educate farmers. The FBM counsellor must know these skills well enough to handle many different situations and to deal with many different types of people. It is these skills and the training received to acquire these skills that will be investigated in this study.

A Brief History of Farm Business Management

Farm Business Management is a relatively new expression, having gradually replaced the term farm management. Farm management has been known as long as the earliest forms of agriculture. The food supply, both animal and vegetable, had to be managed in some form from the beginning for human survival. Undoubtedly there has been much mismanagement of the food supply in the past. It follows, that when one technique was found to work, generations adopted it because experimentation could mean starvation. This factor is a contributing cause to the relatively slow development of agriculture and farm management to this day.

The first writers of agriculture and farm management probably did not appear until the Greek and Roman erds, although agriculture was

1 18 1

undoubtedly mentioned in carlier times. Scholars such as Cato, Varro, Columella, Petrus Crescentius, Walter of Henlay, Fitzeherbert and many others all wrote about agriculture in the Roman and medieval eras.¹ Although they did not specifically mention farm management they implied it by relating the cultural practices of their time. Cato mentions that the farmer's business, "was to sell the maximum and buy the minimum", a definition that may still apply today.² The rotation of crops and the domestication of animals were the first significant signs of more modern farm management, and are described by N.S.B. Gras in "A History of Agriculture in Europe and America".

G.F. Warren of Cornell University was an early leader in the development of farm management since the turn of this century. His book published in 1917, "Farm Management", states that, "farm management is the study of the business principles in farming...".³ He states that in order to find out what the best method of farm organization and management is, one must first gather together a sample of successful farms and study their organization, management and cultural practices. In order to become successful, Warren argues, other farmers must practice these tactics. The major part of his book deals with the cultural practices including the more physical and technical aspects of livestock and crop management, crop selection and rotation, livestock husbandry, farm selection, marketing, and other aspects of farming in general. Warren

¹ Norman S.B. Gras, <u>A History of Agriculture in Europe and America</u>, 2nd ed. (New York: Crofts & Co., 1940), pp. 32, 33, 49, 56, 59, 62, 63, 467.

² <u>Ibid</u>., p. 33.

³ G.F. Warren, <u>Farm Management</u> (New York: Macmillan Co., 1917), p. v. - 5

uses budgets and other financial tools but does not refer to the economic principles of farm management as they are known today.

The last fifty years has seen the introduction of the principles of production economics into the field of FBM. These economic principles endeavour to point out various relationships between inputs used on the products produced by the farm, as well as economic relationships between combinations of inputs and combinations of products. Given specific assumptions, where other factors that will influence the economic relationships are held constant, these principles can be used to predict where profits will be maximized. These economic principles along with Warren's "business principles", that is the utilization of budgets, comparative analysis and cost accounting procedures, combine together to form the new FBM. The new FBM uses economic principles to explain the underlying relationships between inputs and products, and management tools such as those mentioned above to explain the effect of these economic relationships on the profitability of the farm business. The field of FBM has also acquired the use of the computer in recent years, thus making it easier to analyze various alternatives, as well as recording and analyzing increased amounts of data. Much of this new FBM has not been adapted for use in FBM extension. This problem must be overcome if the new FBM is to be truly effective as a form of extension.

The 'Science' of Farm Business Management

Farm business management is considered by some authors to be both a pure and an applied science, similar to engineering, medicine and agronomy. Black et. al. state that it has the basic characteristics of an applied science; 1) it has its own principles that are not inconsistant with those of the basic sciences, and 2) it draws these basic prin-

ciples from more than one science.¹ W.Y. Yang in "Methods of Farm Management Investigations" states that:

Farm management is both a pure and an applied science. It is a pure science because it deals with the collection, analysis and explanation of facts and the discovery of principles; it is an applied science because the ascertainment and solution of farm problems are within its scope.²

D.B. Williams in "Agricultural Extension: Farm Extension Service in Australia, Britain and the United States of America" suggests that FBM as it pertains to production economics is a pure science whereas FBM as it pertains to extension and solving problems on farms is an applied science.³

Other writers suggest that FBM still has many of the characteris-

Primitive agriculture was all art. It continued to be until science had built a foundation for agricultural practice. The early books on agriculture consisted of nothing but a' set of rules as to how the land should be tilled, and when and how the crops should be planted, and the like. These rules had little scientific basis. A surprising number of them have since been proved to be scientifically correct, but the reasons for them were not understood at the time... Even today, however, many things in agriculture are done as they are because we learned to do them that way from our predecessors and they seem to obtain results.⁴

Many farmers still view farming and FBM in the above mentioned context. Therefore people working in FBM and particularly FBM extension must be

1 John D. Black, <u>et. al., Farm Management</u> (New York: Macmillan Co., 1947), pp. 14-15.

² W.Y. Yang, <u>Methods of Farm Management Investigations for Improv-</u> <u>ing Farm Productivity</u>, rev. ed. (Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 1965), p. 2.

³ D.B. Williams, <u>Agricultural Extension: Farm Extension Services</u> <u>in Australia, Britain and the United States of America</u> (Carlton: Melbourne University Press, 1968, pp. 157-178.

Black, et. al., Farm Management, pp. 13-14.

aware of this attitude and be prepared to fit the scientific rules into the art of farming. While FBM appears to be both a science and an art, it is obviously moving toward the scientific end of the spectrum as the profession and its related body of theory develops.

The Development of Farm Management into Farm Business Management

Managing a farm is becoming more complex every year. Farms traditionally consumed much of what they produced, as was the case on many farms in Canada until relatively recent times. Farming was essentially a way of life not a business. Canadian farms are becoming fewer in number and larger in size, thus adding to the amount of resources that have to be managed by the individual farmer. Canadian farms are also increasing in investment levels and mechanization. These statistics are presented in Table 1 which illustrates that today's farmer must be a better manager, and that farming is becoming more of a business.

The change in farming from a way of life into a business is not a uniform, complete transformation on all farms, nor should it necessarily be. However, it does represent a significant change and therefore requires a reorientation of thought when studying how farmers should manage their farms. D.B. Williams discusses three components of farm management that have contributed to its evolution over the years. The first is "technical management" which involves decisions on the use of farm labour and materials but does not include their economic component. The second is "financial management" which "includes the use of records, budgeting, access to credit, financing of buying and selling operations, taxation and estate management. This is the traditional point of departure from technical problems of management...". The third and final component is

TABLE 1

SELECTED CANADIAN AGRICULTURAL STATISTICS, 1901 - 1971

	·					;		
Year	1901	1911	1921	1931	1941	1951	1961	1971
Number o Farms	f 5110 <u>7</u> 3	682329	711090	728623	732832	623091	480903	366128
Average Area per Farm	124	160	198	224	237	2 79	359	463
Average Capital Value	• 3497	6202	9218	7202	5788	15200	27389	65736
Value of Mach. and Equip	. 213	377	9 35	893	813	3103	5 34 1	10677
		÷	ι.					

Source: 1921-1971; Statistics Canada, Agriculture, 1971 Census of Canada. cat. no. 96-701, vol. 4, part 1, Bulletin 4.1-1 (Ott**a**wa: Queen's Printers, 1973), pp. 2-1, 2-2.

1901-1911; Dominion Eureau of Statistics, Agriculture, Ninth Census of Canada 1951, vol. 6, part 1 (Ottawa: Queen's Printers, 1953), pp. 1-1, 1-2.

"whole-farm management" which "means the integration of all farm resources, involving choices about the allocation of land, labour and capital between alternative competing uses. Each individual decision and operation is considered in relation to its effect on the farm performance as a whole and how a change will affect the use of different farm resources."¹ Williams goes on to say that the agricultural economics profession adopted the wholefarm approach and added economic theory as a most part. Farm management has therefore evolved from technical management — one hand and financial management on the other into a whole-far — proach using economic

¹ Williams, <u>Agricultural Extension: Farm Management Extension Ser-</u> vices..., pp. 157-158.

principles as well as other tools.¹ This evolution has accompanied the change of farming from a way of life into largely a business. It naturally follows that farm management should now more appropriately be called FBM in order to properly assess what is needed in the way of management of today's farms.

A Brief History of Farm Business Management Extension

A history of FBM extension would not be complete without reference to the United States of America. The Land-Grant College system with its cooperative Extension Service has been the world forerunner in agricultural extension. The Land-Grant Colleges were established under the Morrill Act of 1862 and represented the first meaningful and successful attempt to teach agriculture at the university Ievel. Formal extension did not begin on a concerted basis until 1914 with the passing of the Smith-Lever Act. This established the Cooperative Extension Service which is a cooperative organization developed and organized by the county, state and federal governments as well as the Land-Grant Colleges. The United States Department of Agriculture established the office of Farm Management in 1906, thus making farm management extension an integral part of the extension service from the beginning. At this time, FBM extension was essentially made up of comparative analysis, cost accounting studies and budgeting.

The development of FBM extension in Canada has differed from that of the U.S. Canada does not have a Land-Grant College system or a Cooperative Extension Service. Agricultural colleges and universities offering courses towards degrees in agriculture developed independently and have never been formally responsible to agricultural extension. The

¹ Ibid.

Canadian Constitution stipulates that extension education is the responsibility of the provinces. Therefore the federal government, that is the Canada Department of Agriculture, has not been responsible for extension. The provinces established their own departments of agriculture, as vehicles of extension education, upon entering confederation.

Formal extension was not started until after the turn of the century. Ontario and Quebec were the first provinces to have agricultural professionals involved in extension. These early "District Agriculturists" or "Agricultural Representatives" were generalists covering the entire spectrum of agriculture. It soon became apparent in each province that subject matter specialists were needed as agriculture became more scientific and specialized. Farm business management was no exception and the first "Farm Management Specialists" were appointed in the late 1930's, 40's and 50's.

Farm record keeping systems have constituted the major part of FBM extension. Each province or region of Canada has had its own farm account book ranging from a simple cash accounting system to a detailed accrual accounting system. The province of Quebec among others, by the late 1960's had computerized farm record keeping and group analysis systems for their farmers. In 1968 Canfarm, a federal, provincial and university program of computerized farm record keeping became available to all farmers in Canada. Now Canfarm is on its third version of record keeping, the first two having had questionable success, as well as expanding into computerized farm planning packages for use on farms. Farm business management extension in Canada has also experienced; 1) the formation of farm management clubs, where farmers get together to discuss farm management problems; 2) the formation of farm syndicates in which

participating farmers hire a professional FBM consultant to assist them with FBM problems; and 3) the development of Consensus Research Data (CRD) studies and similar forms of cost of production data to be used as benchmark figures.

There are several regional and national programs or organizations that are influences on FBM'extension. The most influencial national program at present is Canfarm. All the provinces participate and use it as a major part of their FBM extension. The Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act (PFRA) of the 1930's, was an early example of these programs followed in the 1960's by the Agricultural Rehabilitation and Development Act (ARDA). Both of these programs were primarily aimed at the smaller less developed farms. The Small Farm Development Program (SFDP) of the 1970's, a federal-provincial program, is also aimed at assisting the smaller farmers, particularly from the management counselling viewpoint.

The CFMC formed in 1968 is another major influencer of FBM extension in Canada. The CFMC is made up of representatives from the Canada Department of Agriculture, the Farm Credit Corporation (FCC), Statistics Canada, the Canadian Federation of Agriculture, provincial departments of agriculture and universities offering courses towards degrees in agriculture. The CFMC has several responsibilities in FBM among them:

> ...is the identification and assessment of problems arising in the provision of governmental and institutional farm or management services. These services include extension, research, teaching, training and information. The committee also has the responsibility for suggesting and analyzing alternative solutions to problems in any of these area.l

^I I.L. Corbridge and T.A. Petersen, "Farm Business Management Training Program," <u>Canadian Farm Economics</u> II (April 1976), p. 27.

There are other organizations that influence FBM extension in Canada, but these are the main ones.

Increased communication, cooperation, and coordination between the provincial governments, the federal government and the universities would enrich FBM extension in Canada. However, there has been little cooperation between these organizations, except on an informal individual basis. Federal employees generally do not get involved in extension, although the Canfarm and SFDP programs in recent years have been partial exceptions. Universities are also not directly involved in agriculture extension, except on a special contract basis. The provincial departments of agriculture have therefore been left to do the job with very little assistance.

CHAPTER II

A REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

The purpose of this chapter is to review literature relevant to the skill needs and training programs for professionals working in the area of FBM counselling. The chapter is divided into several sections, each dealing with one or more of the vital components of FBM skill needs and training programs. The first section investigates training needs perceived by agricultural extension workers themselves, while the second section deals with the more specific skill needs in FBM counselling. The third section covers the topic of actual training programs at universities, and the fourth section covers inservice training at government agencies. In the fifth and final section, the DACUM and CAP approaches to competency based occupational training are described and compared as to their applicability in investigating training needs.¹

Perceived Training Needs of Agricultural Extension Workers

Considerable material has been written on the perceived training needs of agricultural extension workers. It is not the purpose here to provide a comprehensive review, but to make conclusions from a representative sample of the literature.

"Agricultural Extension Training Needs in Alberta" by L.W. Rasmusson and "Training Needs Felt by County Agricultural Agents in Quebec" by A. Bouchard both discovered that agricultural extension workers

¹ DACUM and CAP are two types of competency based occupational training systems. Essentially they entail breaking the occupation in question down into the individual skills needed to perform that occupation. Training materials are then prepared for those individual skills.

wanted more training in extension and education principles and techniques and less in subject matter areas. The Bouchard study refined the categories further and found that, "program planning, psychological and educational principles, and performance of educational activities" were wanted the most and in that order.¹ Rasmusson discovered that the two individual items in which training was wanted the most were, "agricultural economics and farm management and the management process."² It appears that principles of extension education and FBM extent on are perceived to be important training needs by agricultural extension workers.

Skill Needs in Farm Business Management Extension

Farm business management extension is becoming an increasingly important part of agricultural extension. Several authors describing the future of agricultural extension stress this fact. The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) publication, "Advisory Work in Farm Management" states that the two main purposes for farm management advice are; 1) "to teach farmers to consider and manage their farms as a business," and 2) "to orientate agricultural advisory activities".³ The publication also lists the qualities needed in a farm management advisory worker. These qualities are; 1) "competence" in economics and the complex techniques of farm management as well as program

¹ Andre Bouchard, "Training Needs Felt by County Agricultural Agents in Quebec," <u>Proceedings of the Canadian Society of Rural Extension</u> <u>Ninth Annual Meeting and Convention (n.p., December, 1968), p.36.</u>

² L.W. Rasmusson, "Agricultural Extension Training Needs in Alberta" (A Summary of Master's Thesis, Colorado State University, 1960), p.3.

³ <u>Advisory Work in Farm Management</u>, Documentation in Agriculture and Food No. 77 (Paris: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, 1966), p.40.

planning; 2) "ability to win the farmer's confidence"; 3) "discretion and tact"; 4) "teaching ability"; 5) "a sense of responsibility"; 6) "team spirit", in order to work with other extension personnel; 7) "authority", in drawing up FBM advisory programs; 8) "organizing ability"; for a wide varigity of tasks; and 9) "physical fitness", for the heavey workload.¹ The above "qualities" do not delineate specific skills needed, however they do indicate the scope of the job of the FBM extension worker.

Three studies that deal with roles, skills, and/or training needs of persons working in FBM extension follow below. (It should be emphasized that FBM counselling and FBM extension are considered synonomous terms in this study because the skills needed in the two are essentially the same). The first and second of these studies are similar to parts of the present study because they investigate how much time FBM extension specialists spend on the various aspects of FBM extension, that is, their skill needs. The second study as well as the third investigate training needs of those involved in FBM extension.

The Role of the Farm Business Management Consultant

R.F. Heard, a regional farm management extension specialist for the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture and Food (OMAF), related in a paper entitled, "The Role of the Farm Business Management Consultant", how he sees his role. He states that the majority of his farm consul-

Ibid., pp. 107-108.

Ð

² FBM Consultant is the OMAF title for a professional who works with farmers and other OMAF staff in aspects of FBM. Essentially this professional uses many of the skills that are a part of FBM extension and outlined in the DAQUM chart for FBM counselling.

tations for a four year period in the mid 1960's dealt with, credit, finance, insurance and money management, business agreements, estate planning, and partnerships - incorporations respectively. The nature of the consultations then ranged in decreasing frequency as follows; "budgeting and farm planning including land acquisition", "economics of machinery, buildings, crops, livestock, etc.", "farm records and analysis", "outlook trends, etc.", and "miscellaneous".¹ Heard's rating of the frequency of the types of consultations is definately influenced by the administrative organization of the OMAF and does not necessarily reflect the true picture of skills needed in FBM counselling. Heard reinforces this by stating that the members of the county staff do most of the consultations and that this "screening" process may have taken away many of the farmers' queries in various areas.² The following study attempts to avoid this screening process and asks FBM extension specialists to specify with what programs they are involved.

> Survey on the Present Status and Future Programs and Needs of Farm Management Extension in Canada³

This study was concerned with determining the number of man equivalent professional and technical devoted to farm management extens power ment, agribusiness, consultants, and universities

¹ R.F. Heard, "The Role of the Farm Business Management Consultant," in <u>Proceedings of the Canadian Society of Rural Extension Ninth</u> <u>Annual Meeting and Convention</u> (n.p., December, 1968), p. 81.

³ Farm Management Extension Sub-Committee of the Canadian Farm Management Committee, "Survey on Present Status and Future Programs and Needs," n.p., 1970 (Typewritten).

² Ibid.,

It also investigated the percentage of time spent on each of the following; account books, budgeting, linear programming, credit and farm finance, farm business arrangements, estate planning, and farm management principles. Finally, the study asked respondents for their comments on; future programs they would like to see established, needed staff training, and nationally and regionally developed projects that might be of assistance.¹ It began by defining farm management extension as; "work directly related to assisting farmers in making management decisions".² The above definition coincides closely with the definition of FBM counselling used in this study.³

There are several results of this study that are important to the present study. First, it found that the majority of professional man equivalents working in farm management extension were employed by the various government departments and agencies (229 of 244).⁴ This is a significant factor since the present study will only survey government departments and agencies.⁵ Secondly, the study asked respondents to indicate what they spent their time on, and found, in order of importance, account books, credit and farm finance, budgeting, and farm business arrangements were the irgest time users.⁶ Thirdly, the study discovered that respondents wanted to see future changes such as; a manage-

¹ <u>Ibid</u>., p. 4.

² <u>Ibid</u>., p.1.

 3 See definition on pp. 3-4 and in Appendix C.

4 Status	Farm Management	Extension	Sub-Committee,	"Survey	on	Present

⁵ To be explained in Chapter III.

⁶ Farm Management Extension Sub-Committee, "Survey on Present Status..." p. 2.

ment education program built around Canfarm or a similar accounting and analysis system when it is perfected; upgrading inservice training courses for technical and professional staff; a shift from the emphasis on accounting and analysis to budgeting; greatly expanded inservice training; more use of trained technicians to perform routine accounting and analysis tasks; expansion of teaching aids; more training in the handling of risk and uncertainty and market outlook; a graduate program in farm management extension suitable for professional farm management staff; and national and/or regional types of programs such as regional summer schools, in farm management and extension methods for professional farm management staff. In summary, the responses in this study illustrated the felt need for further training in FBM and extension by those who are working in the area.

Report on Farm Business Management Counselling¹

The report on FBM counselling has also influenced the present study. It surveyed FBM specialists and asked them in what skills they were competent, and what uses they would have for training materials based on these skills. The study also considered "the steps involved and the resources required in further developing a coordinated farm management training program."² Use was made of the DACUM chart for FBM counselling as a basis to ask repondents about their training needs.³

¹ I.L. Corbridge, "Farm Business Management Counselling", Report to the Extension-Education Sub-Committee of the Canadian Farm Management Committee, n.p., 1975. (Mimeographed).

Correspondence, I.L. Corbridge to P. Wright, 10 February 1975.

³ The DACUM Chart for FBM Counselling can be seen in Appendix A. The DACUM process will be explained later in this chapter.

The DACUM Chart for FBM Counselling presents all the skills needed in all aspects of FBM counselling excluding administrative skills, that is, those required to run an office. The chart includes eleven general "Competency Areas" which in turn are subdivided into anywhere from ten to eighteen individual skills that are needed in that area.¹ The Chart is a product of the DACUM approach to curriculum development. It was produced at Holland College, P.E.I. in August 1974 by the Chart Committee of the Extension-Education Sub-Committee of the Canadian Farm Management Committee.²

' The responses of the report on FBM counselling are summarized in Table 2.

TABLE 2

RESPONSES TO THE REPORT ON FARM BUSINESS MANAGEMENT COUNSELLING

Competency Area Summary of Responses A. (Communicate, Counsel, 'It is likely that there are unconscious incomand Interview)..... petencies in this section that have not surfaced. As reported, however, there is interest only in (1) creating a receptive atmosphere, (2) establishing rapport with clients, and (3) identifying needs etc. of clients.

¹ See Appendix A.

² The Chart Committee consisted of: Phil Wright, University of Guelph; T.A. (Alf) Petersen, University of Alberta; John Hickie, Saskatchewan Department of Agriculture; Bruce McCorquodale, Ontario Ministry of Agriculture and Food; R.H. (Bob) Simmerman, Leadership and Training Specialist, Alberta; Alexander (Sandy) Lauder, Regional Farm Economist, Alberta; Rollie Hayman, Farm Management Specialist, Nova Scotia; Adrien Van Ekris, Representative Farmer, Ontario; Fred Mooney, Canfarm, Quelph; Lawrence E. Coffin, Discussion Leader, Holland College, P.E.I.; Ivan L. Corbridge, Coordinator, Farm Management Training Programs, S.F.D.P., Ottawa.

TABLE 2 (con't)

Competency Area	Summary of Responses
B. (Plan, Implement and Evaluate Farm Management Training and Extension Programs)	Although there is considerable need for help there is little call for it.
C. (Assist in Establishin Maintaining and Utilizing Farm Records)	g All groups are interested, particularly in those skills relating to financial records and their uses.
D. (Obtain and Manage , Physical Resources	This is an area of both need and likely use.
E. (Advise on Financial Mangement)	This is also an area of need and likely use.
F. (Develop and Evaluate Alternative Farm Business Plans)	This, too, should be included in training plans.
G. (Advise on Management Implications of Laws and Legislation Affecting Farmers)	There is wide spread interest for personal study but almost no expectation of using in training others.
H. (Advise on Market- ing Strategy)	It can be concluded that there is consider- able interest for personal improvement in this subject area but not for use in training others. Particular interest was manifest for market trends and outlook and for a better understanding of the futures market.
I. (Advise on Estate Planning and Business Arrangements)	This section had a consensus of interest both for personal improvement and in working with others.
J. (Inform and Advise on Concepts of Personnel Management)	This was conceived by most as pertaining to managing office personnel. Since most respon- dents had but little responsibility in this area, there was little interest shown. As intended by the chart committee, however, the concern was with a business firm large enough to have employees contributing signi- ficant input into the success or failure of the farm business. The responses shown likely do not reflect the intent of the chart committee for this skill section.

21

ł,

TABLE 2 (con't)

Competency Area Summary of Responses K. (Inform and Advise The skills in this section are scattered on Business Management ' throughout the preliminary outline. They Concepts and Processes... were explicitly set forth in this final outline. Only the skill chart committee had opportunity to respond to the final outline; all of them included these skills in their selected list for preparation. Source: I.L. Cerbridge, "Farm Business Management Counselling," Report to the Extension-Education Sub-Committee of the Canadian Farm Management Committee, n.p., 1975. (Mimeographed). pp. 19-20. Farm Business Management Training Program at the University Level

Considerable material has been written on agricultural education at the university level. The material referred to in this section is only a representative sample of this literature. Agricultural education, agricultural economics education, FBM education and agricultural extension education are examined briefly in the following paragraphs. The emphasis is on what should in included in the various curricula.

Agricultural Education

The literature reviewed generally concludes that the first university degree in agriculture should include the basic underlying principles of all the sciences contributing to agriculture. This should provide the student with the ability to approach problems in a comprehensive and integrated manner. J.A.F. Rook in his article "Higher Education in Agriculture" states that technical - vocational training has no place in a university because; first, it is not the nature or function of the univer-

sity to do so and secondly, the information load is too comprehensive for a person to learn.¹ Rook further recommends that post-graduate courses should include teaching in the technical skills required for various professional occupations.² R.N. Farquahar in "Agricultural Education in Australia" concurs with the same recommendation.³ This postgraduate training could be interpreted as either inservice training within the employing organizations or university graduate training. In summation, technical skills should not be taught at the university undergraduate level, other than to the awareness stage.

Agricultural Economics Education

The overall conclusion of the literature reviewed on agricultural economics education is similar to that of general agricultural education. W.H. Nicholls in his article "Higher Education and Agricultural Economics: A Critical Appraisal" suggests that the agricultural colleges and universities in the United States at the time, over emphasized the practical and applied technical knowledge and under emphasized the more liberal approach to education.⁴ He goes on to say that agriculture students, both freshmen and seniors, rated very low compared to other university

¹ J.A.F. Rook, "Higher Education in Agriculture," <u>Agricultural</u> <u>Progress</u> 48 (1973): 86.

² <u>Ibid</u>., p. 90.

- 12

³ R.N. Farquahar, <u>Agricultural Education in Australia</u>, with a Foreward by W.C. Radford (Hawthorn: Australian Counsel of Educational Research, 1966), p. 158.

⁴ William H. Nicholls, "Higher Education and Agricultural Economics: A Critical Appraisal," <u>Journal of Farm Economics</u> 42 (December 1960): 975.

students in tests done to rate their general knowledge.¹ In order to remedy this situation Nicholls suggests that agricultural universities and agricultural economics departments in particular, do the following: 1) reduce the number of specialized courses and increase the concentration on principles and theory, for example one basic course in agricultural marketing instead of a whole group of commodity oriented courses in livestock marketing, milk marketing, grain marketing, etc.; 2) enable agricultural economics majors to elect minors in other non agriculture subjects, for example a farm management major may be assisted more upon graduation if his minor is in sociology or psychology; and 3) the cirriculum should leave 30 - 40% of the course load open to electives.²

J. Sjo et'al. in an article entitled "Undergraduate Program Revision at Kansas State University" discuss what₁a cirriculum in agricultural economics should accomplish:

- 1) Provide the basis for a general educational experience that encourages the student:
 - a) To develop an understanding and an appreciation of his environment through study of the sciences-- physical, biological, behavioral - and the humanities.
 - b) To develop an understanding of how values and value systems develop and change.
 - c) To develop a desire for, and skills to, pursue individual independent study.
 - d) To develop analytical skills through study of mathematics, logic, and research methods.
 - e) To develop communication skills by studying and practicing writing and speaking.
- 2) Provide the basis for professional training that encourages the student:
 - a) To develop a desire and ambition to excel in his profession and to understand the requirements and rewards expected in the profession.

<u>Ibid.</u>, p. 972.

Ibid., pp. 978-979.
- b) To develop competence as an agricultural economist able to identify economic problems, to analyze relevant information, and to propose solutions for economic and social problems.
- c) To develop analytical skills that will be useful for a professional lifetime. (Each student must be provided ... with a basis for his top professional performance two or three decaces after graduation.)¹

T.W. Manning in his article, "Graduate Education in Agricultural Economics" goes into further detail about what the undergraduate, Master's, and Ph.D. programs should include. He echoes Nicholls concern about too much specialization in the undergraduate and Master's programs.² The Manning article then describes what should be the designable undergraduate, Master's, and Ph.D. curricula:

> The undergraduate training should include substantial preparation in general economics, agricultural economics, other social sciences, mathematics, statistics, humanities, biological sciences, and agricultural sciences... The Master's program should not be overly specialized, but it should develop the students understanding of economic theory, his special field, supporting subjects, and analytical tools...

The student should be expected to achieve a high level of competence in at least four and perferably five fields, including the special field, a supporting field, macro-economics, microeconomics, and analytical tools...³

All of the above authors agree that the basic theory and principles of agricultural economics should be covered at the university level. The practical application of these principles would then have to be taught either by the employing organization or in post-graduate courses special-

¹ John Sjo, Frank Orazen, and Arlo Biere, "Undergraduate Program Revision at Kansas State University," <u>American Journal of Agricultural</u> Economics 55 (November 1973): 606-607.

² Travis W. Manning, "Graduate Education in Agricultural Economics," <u>Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics</u> 14 (July 1966): 12-14.

³ <u>Ibid</u>.

izing in specific areas.

Farm Business Management Education

The case of FBM education is slightly different from the previous two categories. Farm business management consists of principles and concepts as well as important and basic tools and techniques that have to be taught in order to fully comprehend the subject. The literature suggests that the use of these tools and techniques in making decisions, not their fabrication, should be emphasized at the university level. That is to say, the awareness and principle levels of these tools and techniques should be taught. Graduates from FBM courses should therefore be able to attack FBM problems in a comprehensive and integrated manner.

M. Bochije et.al. in their article, "An Approach to Farm Management Education" state the objective of FBM education is to teach, "the student to integrate concepts and information from the biological, physical, and social sciences in making decisions and to apply decision making procedures to the problem of organizing and operating a farm business".¹ They discuss three computerized tools; a management game, a budget generator, and L.P.-Farm (a linear programming model). These tools can be used to emphasize business management concepts and how they apply to FBM. It is important to note that Bochije et.al. do not advocate the teaching of how these tools are made, but how they can be used to teach principles.

H.T.M. Colwell-in his article entitled, "Business Games and the Teaching of Farm Management in Great Britain" states that FBM education

¹ Michael Boehlje, Vernon Eidman, and Odell Walker, "An Approach to Farm Management Education," <u>American Journal of Agricultural Economics</u> 55 (May 1973): 192.

should include, "the development of an analytical, critical and creative attitude of mind suitable for the process of management..." and "the understanding of theory and application of relevant farm management techniques...".¹ He further adds that farm management course content should be influenced by the, "age, ability, experience, job potential, and previous farm management knowledge of the students".² Both Boehlje et.al. and Colwell emphasize decision making and the use of basic management principles, tools, and techniques as important aspects of FBM education.

Agricultural Extension Education

Authors writing on agricultural extension education at the university level have come to the same conclusions as those writing on agricultural, agricultural economics, and FBM education. Their views are condensed in a paper by C.M. Williams entitled, "A Curriculum for Animal Extension Specialists". Initially Williams states that all agrologists no matter what their specialty will one day be involved in extension. Their curriculum should therefore be made up of the following points; '1) "a thorough grounding in the natural sciences (physical and biological)"; 2) "undergraduates being trained for responsibilities in extension require study of group organization, administration, and educational philosophy:.." but not to the detriment of the natural sciences; 3) "sufficient exposure to the humanitites is required for the agricultural

¹ H.T.M. Colwell, "Business Games and the Teaching of Farm Management in Great Britain," <u>Agricultural Progress</u> 48 (1973): 135-136.

2

Ibid.

graduate to ensure that he is in fact an intellectual man and capable of communicating effectively"; 4) "specialization at the undergraduate level must be held in check to allow for sufficient breadth and flexibility in the curriculum".¹ Williams further states that specialization and therefore the more applied courses, even in extension, should occur either in inservice or post-graduate training programs. Although there is a great deal to be gained from applied courses at the undergraduate level, the information required is too intense for a person to learn, as well as the underlying principles.²

G.R. Purnell in his 1966 paper entitled, "Extension Economics--The Next Ten Years" states:

> The day is here when extension economists should all have master's of science degrees and within a very few years a doctorate will be sought as a means of qualifying to effectively deal with agricultural problems of an economic mature.³

In essence he says that extension economists will need post-graduate training as well as their first university degrees. Purnell interprets this post-graduate training to be further university education and his statement will probably apply to general agricultural extension workers in the years to come.⁴

¹ C.M. Williams, "A Curriculum for Animal Extension Specialists," in <u>Proceedings of the Canadian Society of Rural Extension Seventh Annual</u> <u>Meeting and Convention</u>. Theme: Meeting the Needs of the Rural Community (n.p., March, 1967), p. 55.

² Ibid.

³ G.R. Purnell, "Extension Economics--The Next Ten Years," in Proceedings of the Canadian Society of Rural Extension Seventh Annual Meeting and Convention. Theme: Meeting the Needs of the Rural Community (n.p., March, 1967), p. 62.

⁴ There is nothing stopping a fair percentage of this post-graduate education coming in the form of inservice training by the employing organizations.

Farm Bus ness Management Inservice Training at Government Agencies

All of the authors cited in the section on university level FBM training concluded that the basic theory and principles should be covered in the university undergraduate program and that the practical application of these principles or further specialization in the theory should appear in post-graduate courses. These post-graduate courses, as stated above, can be either university or inservice training courses. It appears to be logical that in most cases government agencies would be more interested in teaching the practical application of principles rather than further specialization in theory.

There are many ways to organize FBM inservice training programs. They could be forms of individualized study and learning with no formal courses, or two to ten day workshops on specific subjects, or from six to twelve month long apprenticeship type on the job training programs. In fact all the government agencies visited practiced one or more of these organizational forms in their FBM inservice training programs. However, there are other forms of FBM inservice training programs that can be effective. The OECD publication on farm management advisory work cited earlier explains what the contributing experts felt should be the format of the ideal FBM inservice training course.

...courses providing an introduction to farm management, should extend over three consecutive months and that the curricula should be based on the principles of economics and cover the possible applications of the various methods of farm management advice together with a great deal of practical work.¹ A relatively new technique of inservice training is the use of competencybased occupation training system of which DACUM and CAP are examples and

will be explained in the next section. The material from these systems can be used as a resource in any one of the above mentioned forms of organization.

Advisory Work in Farm Management, OECD No. 77, pp. 120-121.

DA <u>M and CAP - Two Systems of Developing</u> using Materials Based on <u>kill Needs</u>

DACUM (Develop <u>a Curriculum</u>) and Call (Competency Analysis Profile System) are two separate competency — med learning systems used in the development of curricula for training programs.

The DACUM Approach

The DACUM approach is a combination of curriculum development

and an evaluation process for occupational training programs.

DACUM can be defined as a single-sheet profile that serves as both a curriculum plan and an evaluation instrument for occupational programs... It is graphic in nature, presenting definitions of the skills of an entire occupation on this single sheet of paper... It is an analysis of the occupation rather than a curriculum evolving from an analysis. The occupation is subdivided into general areas of competence. Each is then analysed to identify each skill it contains. The result is independent specification of each of the skills (behavior) that collectively enable an individual to perform competently in the occupation. These skills are defined quite simply and are structured independently in small blocks on the chart. Each can serve as an independent goal for learning achievement.

The first step in the DACUM system is to assemble "a committee of resource persons expert in a given occupation" for the purpose of constructing the DACUM chart. The committee should consist of eight to twelve people skilled in the occupation and meet from two to four days.

Once the DACUM committee is formed, the co-ordinator, who is an expert in occupational training and not the occupation being studied, introduces the committee members to the DACUM process. The co-ordinator's job is to guide the committee through the DACUM process. One of the first functions of the co-ordinator is to familiarize committee members with

R.E. Adams, <u>DACUM Approach</u> to <u>Curriculum</u>, <u>Learning</u>, and <u>Eval</u>-<u>uation in Occupational Training</u> (Ottawa: Canada Newstart Program, 1973). p. 24-28. 30

Ø

the rating scale that will be used on the skills once the DACUM chart is formed. The rating scale rates the performance (behavior) needed by an individual when actually doing the skills and ranges all the way from unsaffisfactory performance (0) to exceptional performance and ability to lead others in the task (6). It should be noted here that there is no mention of rating the acquisition of underlying principles that enable the individual to physically carry out the skill.

The first job of the committee is to define the "General Areas of Competence" in the competency areas are of three types:

1) the obvious divisions of skill in an occupation

2) those divisons of skill used as part of one or more of the obvious divisions of skill in 1) above

 convenience groupings or subdivisions of obvious divisions of skill.

The next task of the committee is "to identify, isolate, and define individual skills (behaviors) for each General Area of Competence". These are destined to become learning units in the proposed training program. It is important to note that these skills are taken to mean behaviors, that is, something the individual must physically do. In fact, "In oral definition each is prefaced by 'The individual must be able to...'". This is an important Facet of DACUM to remember when comparing it with the CAP system.

Once the individual skills have been defined, the next task is to structure them into the desired learning sequence within each competency area. This is to be done from the point of view of an individual learning to acquire those skills in a work setting. After the desired

learning sequence is set up for each competency area the same process is followed through for all skills on the DACUM chart. Thus the end product, the chart, will allow the trainee the overfrom left to right on it, acquiring the more elementry skills first.

The DACUM process is not finished with the completion of the DACUM chart. A training module must be prepared for each of the individual skills. The material in these modules should allow the trainee to acquire competency in performing the skill through reading, doing the exercises within, and by instruction in some cases. Each training module is usually prepared by one or more experts within the occupation. One person will seldom write more than one module.

The occupation of FBM counselling in Canada has been analyzed through the DACUM process on the initiative of the CFMC. A main objective of the CFMC was to share knowledge and materials from across Canada. At present the training modules are being prepared on a number of the skills on the DACUM chart for FBM counselling which can be seen in Appendix A.

The CAP System

The CAP system begins by making four assumptions. The first assumption is that the practitioner within the occupation being analyzed is the best person to assist with the analysis process because he uses the knowledge, judgement and skills required by the occupation daily. The second assumption is that priority levels between competency statements (individual skills in the DACUM approach) can be established by letting a larger group within the occupation validate the entire compe-

D. Manuel and A. Deane, "CAP A Flexible Training System," Canadian Vocational Journal 12, No. 1 (April 1976): 19-22.

tency profile once it has been formed. The third assumption is that no one person knows thoroughly the theoretical and practical aspects of an occupation. It is for this reason that "the CAP system uses a team approach to the preparation of learning materials". The final assumption of the CAP system is that it is necessary "to specify minimum criterion levels for each competency"; hence CAP is "competencybased".

There are five distinct phases in the CAP system. The first phase is the development of the basic Competency Analysis Profile. Eight to twelve practitioners of the occupation representing a crosssection get together for a "modified brain-storming" session in which the participants build the Competency Analysis Profile. They start with the major competency categories (General Areas of Competence in the DACUM approach) and work their way down to the competency statements.

The second phase of the CAP system is the "validation" of the basic CAP document completed in phase one. The two main reasons for validation are; 1) to determine priorities between competency blocks (skill boxes in the DACUM approach), and 2) to determine regional or specialization differences. A larger cross-section from the occupation is asked to examine the basic CAP document and rate the relative importance, according to a predetermined scale, of each competency statement to them when fulfilling the needs of the occupation. This validation process allows for validated CAP documents to be reproduced by different regional or occupational specializations within the larger occupation.

The preparation of complete and sequenced performance objectives is the third phase of the CAP process. A group, "of two or three educational experts (with competence in preparing objectives), two or three content

experts and two or three of the original profile participants" is formed to determine the "terminal objectives" for each competency block. The performance objectives are developed using the three domains of learning as a basis. Each domain is divided into four levels which assit the group in coming up with complete and concise objectives. The domains of learning and their corresponding performance levels are as follows: Cognitive (knowledge) Domain - 1. knowledge, 2. comprehension,

3. application, 4. analysis, synthesis, and evaluation.

Affective (judgemental) Domain - 1. receiving (examining new ideas), 2. responding (react to **\$\$** w ideas), 3. form a value, [4. practice a value.

Psychomotor (physical skill) Domain - 1. identify (task to be performed), 2. prepare (to perform task), 3. imitate (watch and do from others), 4. perform.

The development of learning modules is the fourth phase of the CAP system. Some of the objectives of the different competency blocks may be very similar and may warrant combining one or more competency blocks. Alternatively it may be warranted **to** divide some of the competencies into one or more modules. These modules then increase learning efficiency.

The final phase of the CAP system is the development of learning sites and resources. "The same group assembled for the purpose of writing objectives would be the best team to develop all the learning materials for one modularized CAP document." The learning material can include the whole range of instructional media but must relate to the learning specified by the objectives and no additional material should be included.

A Comparison of DACUM and CAN

It can be seen from the above descriptions that there is a major similarity and a few major differences between the DACUM and CAP systems.

Essentially, CAP is a further refinement of the DACUM apppoach. The largest similarity between the two systems is that they both require the building of a chart outlining the skills and competencies needed in the occupation under study. The validation process in phase two of the CAP system is a major difference. It would appear to be a better system if the original skill or competency chart is validated by a larger crosssection from the occupation. In fact, it could be argued that this is exactly what the present study is doing for the DACUM chart for FBM, counselling.

Perhaps, the most important difference between the two systems, and the one that affects professional occupations like FBM counselling the most, is the preparation of objectives. The DACUM approach relies on the chart committee to come up with performance objectives geared to the behavioral performances of the trainee, which is fine for technical occupations but is lacking when dealing with professional occupations that have underlying principles for most skills. The CAP system of using the three domains of learning, each with four levels of performance, fits a professional occupation better. For example, most of the skills in the DACUM chart for FBM counselling require that the trainee have competence in the cognitive and affective domains as well as the psychomotor domain.

A final difference between the two systems is the development of learning modules. The CAP system appears to have an advantage in including phase four in the process. This phase will increase learning efficiency, but is lacking in the DACUM process. However the DAGUM approach may be at an advantage when it comes to preparing materials for the modules. It would appear more advantageous to allow other experts in particular

areas of the occupation to write the training modules provided the chart committee has some input into their coordination. The CAP system of requiring that the group who assembled the performance objectives also write the training material appears rather unrealistic. The quantity of work involved in preparing the few modules completed for the FBM counselling project implies the group of ten or twelve would have to devote several years to one project for one occupation. Assuming that these are experts, they would likely have jobs and other commitments to fulfill. It can therefore be concluded that a combination of DACUM and CAP may be the best system to employ when developing a training approach to a professional occupation like FBM counselling.

CHAPTER JJ1

STUDY DESIGN AND DATA COLLECTION

The objective of the study as stated in Chapter I is twofold, and warrants repeating here:

 to analyze and describe the adequacy of university undergraduate and graduate training and government inservice training for professionals working in the area of FBM counselling in Canada and to make recommendations for improvements.

2) to discover what skills are needed and used by professionals

working in the area of FBM counselling in Canada. This chapter describes the design of the study and method of data collection. Included are reasons why the specific universities and colleges were chosen for investigation; why the study was limited to government inservice training programs and personnel; and why farm credit advisors and general agricultural extension workers were included in the study along with FBM specialists and counsellors. The method used in data collection from the universities, government agencies, and practitioners is also described. Finally, the method of statistical analysis that was used to analyze the data collected is given.

Study Design

Universities

A description and analysis of the adequacy of university undergraduate and graduate training for professionals working in the area of FBM in Canada could become an unmanageable task if not limited in some way. It was felt when designing the study that the majority of the professionals working in the area of FBM counselling in Canada were agricul-

tural degree graduates from the eight Canadian universities and colleges offering courses towards a degree in agriculture. It was also considered that the majority of the courses that related to FBM counselling are taught in the Agricultural Economies or related departments at these institutions. It is for these reasons that the description and analysis of undergraduate and graduate training will be limited to the courses offered at the following institutions:

- 1) The University of British Columbia (UBC) Agricultural Economics Department.
- 2) The University of Alberta (U of Alva) Department of Rural Economy.
- 3) The University of Saskatchewan (U of Sask) Agricultural Economics Department.
- 4) The University of Manitoba (U of Man) Department of Agricultural Economics and Farm Management.
- 5) The University of Guelph (U of Guelph) School of Agricultural Economics and Extension Education.
- 6) MacDonald College Agricultural Economics Department.
- 7) Laval University (Laval U) Department of Rural Economy
- 8) The Nova Scotia Agricultural College (NSAC) Department of Economics and Business.

Government Agencies

The investigation into inservice training and skill needs in FBM counselling is limited to government agencies and their employees because they do the majority of formal FBM counselling work according to the "Survey on the Present Status and Future Programs and Needs of Farm Management Extension in Canada" referred to in Chapter 11; the population as a whole was easier to contact; and the institutions are located across Canada. The population of private enterprise doing work in FBM counselling would include FBM consulting firms, chartered banks, credit unions, and many chartered accounting firms, thus making it more difficult to contact all the members. Thirteen government agencies, three federal and ten provincial, were contacted in conjunction with the study and are listed below:

1) The British Columbia Department of Agriculture (BCDA)

2)/The Alberta Department of Agriculture (ADA)

3) The Saskatchewan Department of Agriculture (SDA)

4) The Manitoba Department of Agriculture (MDA)

5) The Ontario Ministry of Agriculture and Food (OMAF)

6) The Quebec Department of Agriculture (QDA)

7) The New Brunswick Department of Agriculture and Rural Development (NBDARD)

8) The Nova Scotia Department of Agriculture and Marketing (NSDAM)

9) The Prince Edward Island Department of Agriculture and Forestry (PEIDAF)

10) The Newfoundland Department of Forestry and Agriculture (NfldDFA) \sim

and 1) The Farm Credit Corporation (FCC)

2) The Small Farm Development Program (SFDP)

3) The Canfarm Service Agency (CSA)

Survey of Agency Professionals

Farm business management specialists are not the sole professionals involved in FBM counselling. The "Survey on the Present Status and Future Programs and Needs of Farm Management Extension in Canada" shows that 189 of the 229 professional man equivalents the government agencies allocated to FBM extension spent only part of their time on FBM extension.¹ That is to say, a large percentage, 82%, of FBM extension is done by staff with other responsibilities. It is for this reason that the opinions of District Agriculturfsts, Agricultural Representatives, and Farm Credit Advisors working for the above government agencies were also sought. These professionals represent an important link in the chain of any FBM counselling-program. In fact, in the majority of cases, they handle the farmers' initial enquiry and usually do not require the help of the FBM specialist. This was exemplified in R.F. Heard's paper "The Role of the Farm Business Management Consultant" reviewed in Chapter IJ.

. Method of Analysis

A pretest of the questionnaire was done in June and July of 1976 with twelve professionals verking in Alberta. The comments and criticisms of thereight respondents were incorporated into the final questionnaire which can be seen in Appendix B. The pretest respondents generally considered the length could not be reduced because the information required was too important, however, they did suggest a few minor formating and sequential changes.

Four basic categories of professionals working in the area of FBM counselling were asked to contribute to the study. These professional categories include; A. General agricultural extension workers, B. Farm credit advisors, C. FBM counsellors, D. FBM resource specialists, as well

¹ Farm Management Extension Sub-Committee, "Survey on Present Status..." p.2.

as supervisors of these professionals.¹ The professionals in the above categories were asked to rate the importance of selected types of university courses, the importance of past inservice training in the competency areas of FBM counselling, and the importance of the various skills outlined on the DACUM chart for FBM counselling to the job of FBM counselling. The scale on which they rated the above for importance follows:

1. not important (used very infrequently)

2. limited importance (limited use or can refer to a specialist)

 occasionally very important (used only occasionally but must have a working knowledge of it)

4. most important (used often and must have full competence in it). They were also asked to rate the need for future training, in the various competency areas of FBM counselling, according to the following scale:

0. sufficient training already available

1. not needed (used very infrequently)

2. limited need (can get by without)

3. needed (would attend course if provided)

4. great need (definite lack of training in this area) The supervisors were only asked to rate the importance of the skills listed on the L UM chart for FBM counselling because it was felt that

The professional categories of respondents are defined as follows: A. General agricultural extension worker - a person working in all aspects of agricultural extension of which FBM is only a part.

B. Farm credit act or La person specializing in the credit aspect of FBM.

C. FBM counsellor - person working almost exclusively with farmers and groups of farmers in aspects of FBM counselling as outlined in the DACUM chart.

D. FBM resource specialist - a person working as a resource person in FBM for other staff in the organization.

their opinions on professional training would be reflected in the training programs offered by their agency.

It should be noted at this time that there may be some confusion arising from the rating scale used in the questionnaire. The objective is to get an indication from the respondents of how important the various skills, university courses and past inservice training are to their jobs. It was left that use should be incorporated into the rating scale in order to include this aspect of skill importance. The result of this incorpogation could have been construed by many respondents as equating importance with use. If this was done, it is not detrimental to the outcome of the survey. If respondents rated a particular skill as '4'; this indicates that they perceived it to be important to the job or used frequently on the job or hoth. The result is that it is perceived as being used more often than if it were rated '3' and more important and useful than if it were rated '2' or '1'.

•The responses to the questionnaire were analyzed by averaging the rating of each university course type, inservice training area, and skill on the DACUM chart. These averages were then ranked for each professional category, including the supervisors, and the Spearman rank correlation coefficient was applied.

The Spearman rank correlation coefficient is, "a measure of association which requires that both variables be measured in at least an ordinal scale so that the objects or individuals under study may be ranked in two ordered ser "¹ The procedure in using the Spearman rank correlation coefficient is as follows:

¹ Sidney Siegel, <u>Nonparametric Statistics for the Behavioral</u> <u>Sciences</u> (New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1956), p. 202. 1. Rank the observations on the X variable from 1 to N. Rank the observations on the Y variable from 1 to N.

 List the N subjects. Give each subject's rank on the X variable and his rank on the Y variable next to his entry.

- 3. Determine the value of di for each subject by subtracting his Y rank from his X rank. Square this value to determine each subject's di². Sum the di²'s for the N-cases to determine, $\sum di^2$.
- 4. If the proportion of ties in either the X or Y observations is large, use formula (9.4) to compute r_s . In other cases use formula (9.7).
- 5. If the subjects constitute a random sample from some population one may test whether the observed value of rs indicates an association between the X and Y variables in the population... For N>10, the significance of a value as large as the observed value of rs may be determined by computing the t associated with that value (using formula 9.8) and then determining the significance of that value of t by referring to Table B.1

Legend:

The X and Y variables referred to here are the various professional categories.

The subjects referred to above are the various skills in FBM

counselling.

r

N = the number of observations.

 $\frac{6 \sum_{i=1}^{N} di^2}{\frac{1+1}{N^3 - N}}$

¹ <u>Ibid.</u>, pp. 212-213.

d = the difference between the ranking.

 $r_{\rm S}$ = the Spearman rank correlation coefficient.

$$s = \frac{\xi x^2 + \xi y^2 - \xi d^2}{2\sqrt{\xi x^2 \xi y^2}}$$
 (formula 9.4)

(formula 9.7).

$$t = r_s \sqrt{\frac{N-2}{1-r_s^2}}$$
 (formula 9.8)

The product of this analysis will show the rank in order of importance of the various university course types, past inservice training, and skills needed in FBM counselling, as well as the need for future training in the various areas of FBM counselling. The Spearman rank correlation coefficient will be applied to test if the rankings are relatively the same among the professional and other respondent categories. The result of this analysis will be presented in Chapter IV.

The analysis in Chapter IV will also include a presentation of the responses to other questions listed in the questionnaire located in Appendix B, but not previously discussed.

Data Collection

Universities

9

A basic objective of the study was to describe and analyze the adequacy of university undergraduate and graduate training for professionals working in the area of FBM counselling in Canada. To accomplish this, representatives were interviewed from each of the eight post secondary educational institutions offering courses towards degrees in agriculture.

An ideal approach would have been to spend considerable time at each institution, meeting with a broad cross section of administrators and academics. However because time and money were limited, it was decided to contact the Chairmen of de timents offering agricultural economics courses to set up dates for future interviews. In most cases the chairmen delegated the interview to those professors teaching FBM and related courses. The interviews were therefore conducted with one or more p: fessors in sessions lasting from one to six hours, at each university or college.

2) Curricula requirements and course accessability by students;

45

3) The popularity of FBM and related courses; and

4) Student course counselling procedures.

Thuse objectives were accomplished by the following steps. First, before the interviews were set up, the calenders of the universities and colleges in question were purused, noting FBM curricula requirements and the various FBM related courses. The respective chairmen were then contacted and asked to send the investigator the FBM related course outlines. These course outlines were purused for information on FBM competency areas taught. The next step occured at the interview, when the instructors of the various FBM related courses were asked to clarify what competency areas in FBM counselling are taught in these courses. The final step was to ask the professors the following six questions:

Are there any courses related to FBM counselling in other departments that are recommended or usually taken by agricultural economics students?

2) Are there any definate plans to add future courses related to [5] 4 FBM counselling?

3) What is the percentage of agricultural economics majors with respect to the whole class of agriculture students?

4) What is the percentage of non agricultural economics majors enrolled in the FBM related courses in recent years?

5) Are class sizes in the FBM related courses growing or shrinking?

and the second second

6) What is your department's method of student counselling and

advising on course selection?

Government Agencies

A survey of inservice training programs in FBM counselling offered by the thirteen government agencies to their professional-staff is one of the basic strives of the study. Supervisors' opinions on important skills needed by their staff were also sought. To accomplish these objectives representatives from each of the thirteen government agencies were interviewed.

The process began with a letter to the Director of the Extension Branch of each of the ten provincial agencies and a letter to the Director of each of the three federal agencies. The letter included; background information on the study, which can be seen in Appendix C; a list of questions, which can be seen below; the DACUM chart for FBM counselling; a proposed date for an interview; and a request that someone from the FBM section be present at the interview. The letter was followed by a telephone call during which the exact interview date and those to be present were confirmed. The interviews for the most part were held at the head office of the agency and lasted from two to six hours.

The questions asked those interviewed are listed below.

- What general types of FBM related inservice training programs for professionals have been offered by your organization in the last two years?
- 2) Please prepare a list of names and addresses of the people in your organization who are working in the area of FBM counselling, that is, those people using FBM skills outlined in the DACUM chart for FBM counselling. A will hopefully include both those people working full tir and unselling and those that include FBM counselling as only a part of the duties, for example, general

agricultural extension workers.

3) It is important to have some idea of what administrators of general agricultural and FBM extension programs feel are the most important areas of competence needed in FBM counselling. Please rate each area of competence, that is the writing in the lettered box on the left-hand side of the attached DACUM chart (eg. A - communicate, Counsel and Interview), as to how important that area of competence is to the people working in FBM counselling.

--importance

1. not important (used very infrequently)

2. limited importance (used occasionally or can refer to a specialist)

3. occasionally very important (used only occasionally but must have a working knowledge of it)

4. most important (used often and must have full competence in it) If possible indicate which skills (smaller numbered boxes) in those important areas of competence, that is those rated 3 or 4, you feel are most important in FBM counselling. Please rate them 1 to 4.

- 4) What inservice training programs have staff members attended in the last two years that have been sponsored by other organizations? For example universities and other government departments.
- 5) Have there been many staff members on educational leave in the past two years, and what is your organization's policy towards educational leave?

6)

A STANSIE

Does your organization have any special inservice training programs

for new staff? Probationary periods and special meetings will be considered here.

Survey of Agency Professionals

The list of people working for the government agencies asked for in question 2 above comprised the population of professionals working in the area of FBM counselling in Canada on which the survey is based. A thirty percent sample was drawn from each category of professional from each government agency. That is to say, thirty percent of the District Agriculturists and Agricultural-Representatives, thirty percent of the farm credit advisors, and thirty percent of the FBM counsellors and resource specialists. It was felt that at least three in each professional category should be chosen from each agency. The numbers of professionals chosen to receive the questionnaire from each agency can be seen along with the eventual number of respondents on Table 7 in Chapter IV.

The sampling procedure described above is called "proportionate stratified" of which Delbert C. Miller describes the advantages and disadvantages as follows:

Advantages:

- Assures representativesness with respect to property which forms basis of classifying units; therefore yeilds less variability than A (simple random) or C (multistage random).
- 2. Decreases change of failing to include members of population because of classification process.
- 3. Characteristics of each stratum can be estimated, and hence comparisons can be made.

Disadvantages:

S. MARKING

1. Requires accurate information on proportion of population in each stratum, otherwise increases error.

and the second state of the state of the second state of the secon

- 48

2. If stratified lists are not available, may be cost to prepare them; possibility of faulty classification and hence increase in variability.1

The population chosen fits into this sampling procedure quite well because the lists received from the supervisors included the individual's job title. Therefore there was adequate information in the proportion of the population in each stratum. A stratum in this case is one of the three categories of professionals working for one of the government agencies. It should be noted that FBM counsellors and FBM resource specialists were grouped into one stratum sampling purposes. Unfortunately the stratifying of the sample did not account for changes in geographical areas and therefore types of FBM within the jurisdiction of any one government agency. This means, for example the sample from BCDA may be professionals from only the northern part of the province. However the amount of stratification that did take place, that is sampling each agency separately, can account for some of the major differences in FEM between provinces.

All professionals drawn in the sample were sent the questionnaire in Appendix B, plus the background information in Appendix C, and the DACUM chart for FBM counselling in Appendix A. Those professionals drawn from Quebec were sent a french translation of the information. The questionnaires were mailed out on September 10th, 1976 with a request to send them back by September 27, 1976. A follow up letter was sent out on September 26, 1976 to those that had not yet responded, informing them the deadline was extended to October 18th, 1976. The purpose behind setting two deadlines was to pressure potential respondents into filling

¹ Delbert C. Miller, <u>Handbook of Research Design and Social Measure-</u> ment, 2nd ed. (New York: David McKay Company Inc., 1970), p. 57.

it.

23

CHAPTER IV

ANALYSIS OF DATA

The purpose of this chapter is to analyze the data collected from the universities and government agencies visited in the summer of 1976 and the survey of agency professionals working in the area of FBM counselling carried out in the fall of 1976. The first section of the chapter presents an analysis of the data dealing with FBM related training at universities. It is divided into two subsections, the first dealing with the situation at each university and the second dealing with the training taking place. in each competency area of FBM counselling. The second section is a description of the FBM inservice training being offered at each of the thirteen government agencies chosen to be included in the study. This section includes a brief description of each agency's philosophy and approach towards inservice training as well as their plans for the future. It also includes a subsection on the contents of the inservice training by each agency over the past three years. The final section of the chapter analyzes the data collected from the survey of agency professionals working in the area of FBM] counselling. The section includes subsections on; the respondent samples their perceived skill needs, where they acquired their skills, the importance of the different university courses taken, the importance of past inservice training and the need for future inservice training, other courses of assistance in FBM counselling, and respondent suggestions for future training of FBM counsellors.

Farm Business Management Education at Universities

The material in this section endeavours to describe the FBM training at Canada's universities. Curricula, course counselling procedures, and

student registration in FBM and related courses were examined. These courses were analyzed using the competency areas designated in the DACUM chart for FBM counselling as a basis.¹ Canadian universities and colleges offering courses leading to degrees in agriculture were found to have the facilities for teaching virtually all the areas outlined in the DACUM chart. However, this is no assurance that students take, or are able to take the combination of courses that will benefit them the most in the job of FBM counselling.

An Overview of the Universities

Table 3 contains much of the information gathered on the above mentioned facets of each university and college. The table indicates that class sizes in the FBM courses are not decreasing at any institution, and contain many non agricultural economics majors. This suggests a sustained interest in the subject both as a major and as a complement to other fields of study. The following paragraphs contain information on special situations that arise at each institution as well as their plans for the future.

The special situations all deal with courses offered by the various institutions. The general FBM courses offered at the U of Alta and NSAC are the only FBM courses that do not include linear program g as a significant part of the course. However all agricultural economics majors at the U of Alta are required to take a "Data Analysis" course which includes linear programming and input-output models as major parts. The U of Alta also offers an "Advanced Farm Management" course designed speci-

¹ See Appendix A.

TABLE 3

AREAS OF SPECIALIZATION, PERCENTAGE OF AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS MAJORS IN THE AGRICULTURE FACULTY, FARM BUSINESS MANAGEMENT CLASS SIZE, PERCENTAGE OF NON AGRICULTURAL ECONOMIC MAJORS IN THE FARM BUSINESS MANAGEMENT CLASSES AND STUDENT COURSE COUNSELLING PROCEDURES AT THE EIGHT UNIVERSITIES VISITED

University and Department Title	Areas of Specialization Offered	% of Ag. Majors in Faculty o Agricultu	of of tre, FBM	% of Na Ag.Econ Majors In FBM Courses	Course Course 1 1 ine
UBC - Agricul tural Economics Department	 Farm Management & Production Econo- mics. 'Agribusiness and Marketing Agricultural Resource Economics Development. 	(d)0%	fluctu- ating	@50%	student initiative to approach any professor
🕅 of Alta – Department of Rural Economy	 Agricultural Economics Rural Sociology Forest Economics 	(210%	increas- ing	@50%	one profes- sor for graduates and one
).	•	<pre>₱rofessor for under- graduates.</pre>
) of Sask – Agricul– ural Sconomics	 Honours Agri- cultural Economics General Agricul- tural economics Farm Business Resource Management Marketing & Agribusingee 	(420%	stabli- lized	- - - -	one profes- sor for all students
, of Man – epartment f Ag, Econ, Farm Mgmt,	Agribusiness 1. Agricultural Economics 2. Agricultural Business	910-20%	Stabli- lized		one profes- sor for all students

(con't)

TABLE 3 (Con't)

1

University and Department Title	Areas of Specialization Offered	% of Ag.Econ Majors in th Faculty of Agriculture.	ne Size of	% of Non- Ag.Econ. Majors In FBM Courses	Studer Course Counsel- ling Proceds ures
U. of Guelph School of Agricultural Economics & Extension Education	 Agricultural, Economics Agricultural Business Resource Economics Rural Development 	@10%	"Increas- ing moder- ately	more than half	each pro- fessor is assigned three or four under- graduates
Macdonald Gollege - Agricultural Economics Department	 Farm & Agri- business Manage- ment. Agricultural & Food Marketing Resource Econo- mics & management 	Less than 5%	fluctu- ating	most of class.	no formal setup due to small number::
Laval U - Department of Rural Conomy	 Agricultural Economies Rural Economy (Arts program) 	@20%	increas- ing	@50%	two pro- fessor# for a]J student 8
ISAC - Leonomies Business Department	1. Economics & Business	@10%	increas- ing	075%	no formal setup due to small numbers

NOTE :

4000

Most of the universities offer areas of emphasis within the spercializations mentioned. An example would be marketing and FBM emphasis within the agricultural economcis specialization.

State States

fically for those wishing to practice FBM extension in the future, $\frac{1}{2}$ The U of Sask and the U of Alta each offer an agricultural economics course designed for non agricultural economics, majors. The courses are entitled "Intermediate Agricultural Economics" and "Economics of Agriculture" respectively and contain instruction on various competency areas included in FBM counselling. The U of Guelph in essence has two streams of FBM students. "Those with a major interest take the more quantitative, computer-oriented stream, while others lacking a streng quantitative background, take a more applied approach." Tph also offers a six week graduate level course emphasizing Fl #Managerial Decision Making in Agr#culture" that contains 1 trion on verious competency areas included in FBM counselling. It has been taken by several professionals working in this area from across Canada. Laval U requires agricultural economics students to work one summer in a job related to their field of interest. The job is arranged by both the university and the employing organization, and therefore gives those interested in FBM and extension, additional practical training and experience. Furthermore, Laval U also offers several FBM extension type courses to agricultural field staff as a form of inservice training.

55

The plans for the future all involve additions and/or adjustments of courses to meet student interests. The UBC Agricultural Economics Department plans to add a new range management course in conjunction with the Plant-Science Department. The U of Sask Agricultural Economics Department hopes to offer a FBM course designed primarily for veterinary students, an agribusiness management course primarily for animal science majors,

Correspondence from Dr. P.A. Wright, November 11th, 1976.

M

and a non-thesis option in the FBM masters program. It also hopes to strengthen the rural development area by adding courses and staff. Macdonald College plans to raise their basic FBM course, "Farm Production Economics" to a full year course from its' present half course status. Laval U plans a new "Dairy Farm Management" course to start in the fall of 1976. Finally, NSAC hopes to change its' present "Business, Law" course from a diploma course to a joint degree-diploma course.

An Overview by the Competency Areas in Farm Business Management Counselling

This section_discusses how each of the competency areas in the DACUM chart for FBM counselling are dealt with by the universities visited. T 4 presents the courses at each university dealing with competency i i and B, since they are not usually considered a part of the subject of FBM. The table also indicates whether these courses are required by agricultural economics majors and whether or not they are taught within the agricultural economics department or the faculty of agriculture. The other competency areas on the DACUM chart are discussed to varying degrees in the general FBM courses offered by each university which are described briefly in Table 5.

Competency Area A (communicate, counsel and interview)

Competency area A is considered to be applicable to all professionals in agriculture, including Agricultural Economics. Therefore many courses relating to these skills are taught in other departments. Many of the professors interviewed felt that the student could acquire an adequate proficiency in much of the area by completing the assignments, group workshops and other duties that arise when taking the courses offered

TABLE 4

COURSES OFFERED IN COMPETENCY AREAS A AND B AT THE UNIVERSITY VISITED University and Competency Area A -Competency Area B - (Plan, Department (Communicate, Coun-Implement, and Evaluate Farm Title sel, and Interview) Management Training and Extension Programs UBC -*Extension Methods Agricultural *The Organization of Rural Economics Society Department G*Exmension Planning and Evaluation U of Alta -*Theory and Practice in Rural Extension Department of *Principles of Rural Sociology Rural Economy *Rural Social Problems and Public Policy *Planning and Evaluation of Extension Programs U of Sask -R**Public Speaking *Rural Development Agricultural ° (oral and written Economics communications) Department · R**Bachelor Thesis U of Man -R**Agriculture I Department of (public speaking Agricultural and communications) Economics and Farm Management U of Guelph -*Communisation R*Planning for Rural Development School of Process R*Principles of Sociology Agricultural G*Communication *Extension Education in Change Economics and Theory and Development Extension -G*Communication *Technology in Extension Education Practice Education *Teaching and Learning in Extension Education G*Comparative Extension Studies G*Teaching Methods in Extension Education G*Administration of Extension Programs . 3 C*Evaluation of Extension Work

TABLE 4 (Con^tt)

Macdonald **Communications - Extension Methods. College -Agricultural Economics Department Laval U -R**Communications R***Principles of Sociology Department of ***Animation_et R***Rural Sociology Rural Economy Action Professionelle R***The Rural Milieu (the professional's R***Program Planning role in social action) NSAC --**Communication and Extension Methods. Department of Economics and Business 3 * Course offered in agricultural economics department. ** Course offered in the faculty of agriculture, but not in the agricultural economics department. ** Course offered in other faculty than agriculture. R Required course for agricultural economics majors. Graduate 'consist in the agricultural economic department. Some of the institutions, however do roquire agricultural sconomics students to take a communications oúrse Competency Ameri B. Gplan - Implement, and evaluated at in minagement raning and extension programs)

Only Laval U and the U of Guelph require that agricultural economics majors

૾૾૾૽ૻૺૼૻ

TABLE 5

ç

A DESCRIPTION OF THE GENERAL FARM BUSINESS MANAGEMENT COURSES OFFERED BY THE UNIVERSITIES VISITED

University & Department Title	Brief Description of General Farm Business Management Courses Offered
UBC - Agricultural Economics Department	 <u>Farm Management 1</u> - Concepts & principles, farm organization & operation, budgeting, opportunity cost, enterprise combination, appraisal & revenue. <u>Farm Managment 11</u> - Use of farm planning models, adjustment to risk, cupital budgeting.
U of Alta - Department of Rural Economy	 Farm & Ranch Management - Application of economic principles to organization & management of a farm, budgeting, size of business, choice of enterprise, timing of production, farm labor utilization, farm accounting, leases & farm credit. Advanced Farm Management - Practices & tool used to farm management extension, role of farm record, in management process, farm planning & budgeting credit analysis & management, risk & usertainty, tax management & labor management.
U of Sask - Agricultural Economics Department	Farm Munagement - Introduction to the theory & practice of making decisions in a production situation, examination of techniques (linear programming, simulation & decision theoretic analysis) & procedures which can be used by the manager as well as those required by the profes- sional acting as consultant to the firm manager.
U of Man - Department of Agricultural Economics and Farm Management	Farm Business Management - Principles & practices of farm organization & management use & analysis of farm records & accounts to determine effic- iency of the farm business, limited field study of successful farm business.
U of Guelph School of Agricultural Economics & Extension Education	Farm Management Analysis - Analysis of farm production economics & financial decisions, includes the study of farm record systems, farm firm organi- zation, & the credit policies & situations that affect farm management decisions, economics & investment theories are applied to farm resource

59

٤.

(con't)

TABLE 5 (Con't)

U of Guelph -	acquisition, control, growth, transfer &
(Con't)	warragement.
	Farm Management - Fundamental economic reasoning is
	antioduced within the framework of proceedings
· · · · ·	farm business analysis, budgeting farm business
<u>è</u>	organization including both economic & tooboolog
	great considerations is demonstrated by many
	visits to selected Ontario farme
	Movanced Farm Management - Identification & analysis of
· · · · · · · · · · · ·	problems & opportunities for development of
	successful manaphone active for the successful manaphone at the
i i Standard	successful management strategy; farm business
,9	analysis, computerized farm planning models &
10 mm	decision theory applied to selected Ontario farms.
ALC: N	anagerial sects present an Acricultural (Graduato
	S COULSCIT IGNEELIACATION, analysis & matheals of
And the second second	Solving production & organizational problems of
	and a similar the case farms are studied similar too
	is used to evaluate management strategies.
Macdonald	Farm Production France and Andrew Strate
College -	Farm Production Fernomics - To develop a full under-
Agricultural, /	standing of production systems, functions,
Economics	principles and production management, particularly
Department	in agribusiness & the farm firm, the focus is to
	be on problem solving.
Laval U -	Form Maria and Tana
Department of	Farm Management I - The tools of management with regard
Rural Economy	to the management cycle, group analysis commuting
Rurar in Onomy	programming, budgeting, linear programming
	simulation of enterprise ganagement, accounting
	a management objectives, a farm management
	organization in Quebec.
ÌSAC -	Farm Management - Principle for the state
Department of	Farm Management - Principles & methods of organizing
Economics &	farm businesses are examined, practical problems
Business	abboliated with linancial analysis planatha
	Capital budgeting, resource use & cred#ri-
	acquisition are included, the role of the form
	manager is identified throughout.

TE: The information in the table was gathered from the various calenders of the universities as well as from interviews with the professors of the courses undertaken in the summer of 1976.

2

٦

• B

=

<u>ر</u>
take extension methods and/or rural sociology courses. The UBC and the U of Alta offer courses in this area in the Agricultural Economies and Rural Economy Departments respectively, thus making it more accessible for students to take them. However these are not required ourses. The U of Alta and the U of Guelph also have additional undergraduate and graduate courses in $e^{\frac{1}{2}e}$ usion, rural sociology and init education that are applicable in part, to this competency area. Macdonald College and NSAC offer courses that deal with competency area B, but these courses are not required by agricultural economics majors, nor are they taught in the agricultural economics department. There were no courses in This area mentioned as usually taken by agricultural economics majors at the U of Man.

Competency Area C (assi in establishing, maintaining, and utilizing farm records)

()

All of the professors interviewed considered competency area C as a very major part of FBM. This area is covered completely in the general FBM courses offered by all eight institutions. However, most of the institutions considered the portion dealing with the preparation and maintenance of the various service and production accounts as well as the setting up and maintenance of a filing system, of lesser importance conto the professional's job than the remainder of the area. In fact, the preparation and maintenance of climatic records was not taught in any of the agricultural economics departments visited. The preparation of income tax returns was also not considered too applicable and was only taught in about half of the FBM courses. The U of Sask was the only institution visited that offers a course specializing in this competency area. The course is entitled "Farm Records and Analysis" and deals with competency

area C completely as well as many skills in the other competency areas. All of the other institutions recommend or require agricultural economics majors interested in FBM to take some form of general accounting. In fact, the U of Guelph, Laval U, and NSAC all offer accounting courses within the agricultural economics department.

Competency Area D (obtain and manage physical resources)

Competency area D is usually dealt with in the general FBM courses. The most popular methods of explaining the underlying principles behind this competency areas were to use partial budgets, enterprise budgets, linear programming and the Canfarm computerized farm planing packages. The economic implications of farm layout is not discussed specifically in any courses and most professors interviewed considered common sense and circumstance to be major contributing factors. Almost all those interviewed felt that valuable insights into this competency area could be gained by students if they also took the corresponding livestock production, crop production, soil science and agricultural engineering courses. The UBC Agricultural Economics Department is the only department visited that offers special courses in this area, entitled "Animal Economics" and "Economics of Hortfeultural Crops". The U of Sask and Macdonald College are the only institutions that feel appraisal techniques warrant their own course and have entitled them "Agricultural Finance and Appraisal" and "Land and Resource Appraisal" respectively.Naturally there are many other areas discussed in these courses, especially those of competency area E in the U of Sask course.

<u>Competency Area E (advise</u> on Financial management)

Competency area E is covered in the general FBM courses and additional courses specializing in this area. These specialty courses are entitled, "Agricultural Finance" at the U of Alta, "Agricultural Finance and Appraisal" at the U of Sask, "Agriculture Capital and Credit" at the U of Man, "Financial Management" at the U of Guelph, and "Farm Finance" at Laval U. These courses include some principles not directly applicable to this area, but do form the basis for its'- understanding. Most of these courses discuss other areas of FBM as well as agricultural economics in general.

Conpetency Area F (develop and evaluate alfornative farm business plans)

Competency area F is considered to consist of the basic tools and techniques needed in FBM and is therefore an integral part of any FBM course. All the general FBM courses include the tools of farm planing, especially partial, complete and cashflow budgets. The institutions visited, with the exception of NSAC, also recommend or require courses, at the undergraduate level, in linear programming and other computer techniques as applied to agriculture. The analysis of the effect of farm assistance programs is the sole area that is not usually discussed at the universities visited.

Competency Area G (advise on management implications of laws and legislation affecting farmers)

Competency area G is usually discussed on an introductory basis in the general FBM courses offered by the agricultural economics departments visited. Several of these courses suggest books referring to laws and legislation for farmers on their reading lists. Most of the institutions recommend that students interested in this area take related courses in

the Faculty of Law or other faculties. The UBC has had a few agricultural economics majors take the "Land Law" and the "Common Law" courses offered by the Faculty of Law. The U of Man Department of Agricultural Economics and Farm Management recommends their students interested in this area take the "Commercial Law" course offered in the Faculty of Commerce. Laval U recommends Agricultural economics majors take any one or all three of the following; "Fundamental Law", "Business Law", and/or "Rural Law". Finally, NSAC offers a "Business Law" course to their diploma students, however degree students are also allowed to attend without receiving credit. As mentfoned above NSAC wishes to make this course a combination diploma-degree credit in the near future.

<u>Competency Area II (advise</u> on marketing strategy)

Competency area H is covered in the marketing courses offered by all the institutions. The underlying principles and logic behind the various marketing systems and strategles are thoroughly discussed and explained. The general FBM course includes this area on an introductory basis.

<u>Competency Area 1 (advise on estate</u> planning and business arrangements)

Competency area I is usually included in the general FBM course. Due to the complexity of the many different and individualized estate plans and business arrangements, the resulting discussions are only general and introductory in nature. Students, in most cases, are told a few of the underlying principles and that many different plans and arrangements exist. The U of Alta and the U of Man each offer a course specializing in cooperative organizations, thereby dealing with part of the competency area in a little more detail. Most of the professors interviewed felt that

the area was far too complex and individualized to be taught at the university level, and that it could best be taught in inservice training.

<u>Competency Area J (inform and advise</u> on concepts of personnel management)

Competency area J is usually discussed very briefly in most of the agricultural economics courses offered. The U of Alta, the U of Sask and the U of Guelph all briefly discuss much of this area in their general FBM courses. The UBC, Macdonald College, and NSAC recommend students interested in this area take the personnel management courses offered by other departments in the institution.

Competency Area K (inform and advise on business management concepts and processes)

Competency area K is discussed in various courses offered by the agricultural economics departments visited. The application of economic principles to business planning is one of the main objectives of all FBM courses and is accomplished in all the courses anlaysed. The decision making process is also covered completely in the FBM courses as well as the specialty courses offered by most institutions. Competency area K appears to be dealt with adequately at all institutions.

Farm Business Management Inservice Training at Government Agencies

The purpose of this section is to provide an indication of the inservice training philosophy, approach, plans for future training, and a description of the inservice training courses offered over the past three years by the thirteen federal and provincial government agencies visited. The first part of this section contains a brief description of each agency's philosophy and approach as well as their plans for future inservice training. Only one or two representatives from each of these organizations were interviewed and therefore it would be presumptuous to construe their answers as a complete and concise representation of what is Heing offered by the organization, however it should give a good general indication. The second part of this section will contain Table 6, which presents the content of the inservice training over the last three years. This subsection also lists the agencies that have sent personnel to the FBM courses offered by the U of Guelph, Oregon State University, and NSAC.

Before continuing further with this section it may be beneficial to expand on a reference made in Chapter II. The OECD's views on the shortcomings of past inservice training programs and its recommendation of an ideal format for a FBM inservice training program are presented here as an illustration of what some experts feel but not necessarily the answer to the inservice training problem.

1) In view of the argent need for staff, have there not in some cases been attempts to impart a smattering of knowledge to a large number of farm management advisors when it would have been better to give a thorough training to

the more receptive of them?

- 11) Have there not been some cases of attempts to teach management advisors the most advanced methods, such as linear programming, when they did not know even the rudiments of farm management?
- 111) Have there not been some cases of training courses being organized, conducted and taught by inadequately qualified staff, whereas the services of properly qualified teachers should always be used?
- iv) Finally, have there not been some cases where it has been thought that farm management could be taught by the same methods as those used to teach other agricultural techniques;
 i.e., by means of one or more courses lasting a few days and spread out over the year?...

After lengthy discussions with those in charge of agricultural advisory work in a number of countries we consider that these training courses, ie., courses providing an introduction to farm management, should extend over three consecutive months and that the curricula should be based on the principles of economics and cover the possible applications of the various methods of farm management advice together with a great deal of practical work. Inservice training courses should last for at least a fortnight.

It is realized that these proposals will be difficult to put into effect, because the training courses will be more costly to organize and the management advisor's field work will be interrupted for longer periods. But their adoption seems essential if the standard of training given to advisors is to improve.¹

. 67

Inservice Training at Government Agencies - Philosophy Approach, and Plans for the Future

British Columbia Department of Agriculture (BCDA)

There have been several inservice training courses related to FBM organized by the BCDA in the last fifteen years. These courses are outlined briefly in Table 6. The courses were primarily aimed at District Agriculturists to up-grade their skills in farm economics and instruct them in the operation and application of provincial and national farm accounting programs. In recent years Regional Farm Economists' and seconded SFDP staff in the area of FBM have participated in training courses in specialized fields of BM. Some District Agriculturists have also attended these courses. Present and future inservice training programs may not be as numerous as in the past because most Braff are considered adequately trained. However, farm law and estate planning will be major topics in any future fourses.

There are three other less directly related programs undertaken by the BCDA that can be considered inservice training. First, new staff appointed to the Development and Extension Branch enter as Assistant District Agriculturists. They work with an experienced District Agriculturists for a period of two or three years. During this time they are exposed to and experience the many presponsibilities of an extension agent.

Advisory Work in Farm Management, OECD, No. 77, pp. 120-121.

The Regional Farm Economist will endeavor to work with the Assistant District Agriculturist on the principles and application of FBM. Secondly, the Consensus Research Data (CRD) program is another form of training available. By participating with the farmers in gathering this data the staff member acquires vital skills in FBM as well as learning how to deal with groups of farmers. Finally, several staff members also went to the Western Canada Farm Management Workshop held in Vancouver in September of 1975, at which FBM related topics were discussed.

The staff of the BCDA also attend inservice training courses offered by other organizations. Staff members attended a three day seminar last spring located at the UBC which included two days of communication skills and a half day on the use of audio-visual aids. Staff members are also eligible for full and part time educational leave in order to pursue higher degrees. Few have taken the opportunity for full time leave in %the last couple of years, however several have taken advantage of the FBM courses at the U of Guelph and at Oregon State University.

Alberta Department of Agriculture (ADA)

The FBM related inservice training offered to ADA staff has been extensive particularly in the last year or two. In the fall of 1973 there were two one week long FBM inservice training courses which are outlined in Table 6. The time period between the fall of 1973 and the spring of 1976 was filled with many less formal FBM related, staff training sessions. The staff of the FBM Branch and the Regional Farm Economists met several times with groups of District Agriculturists (D.A.'s) and Alberta Agricultural Development Corporation Loans Officers in one to three day sessions to discuss topics ranging from budgetine the Canfarm computerized farm

planning tools, tax management, estate planning, Canfarm record interpretation and group analysis, and other related topics. The staff of the FBM Branch also meet frequently with the Regional Farm Economists to discuss the above topics in more detail, as well as future programs and procedures for FBM inservice training in the ADA. The Second Inernational Farm Management Congress, in July 1974 at Guelph, and the Western Canada Farm Management Workshop, in September 1975 at Vancouver, were also attended by several ADA staff.

In 1976 there were three four day long sessions entitled Extension and Management Inservice Training Courses which were open to all professional ADA staff. The objectives of the courses were as follows:

- 1) Develop an appreciation for extension as an educational activity as well as providing a gervice function.
- 2) Develop an appreciation for the importance of the farm family's values and goals in the business decisions of the farm unit.
- 3) Develop an appreciation for provision of advice and counselling through a total farm business approach.
- 4) Develop an appreciation for use of adult education principles in developing an effective extension program.
- 5) Develop an appreciation for and practice in the use of management principles and tools in farm and home decisions.

The topics discussed in these courses are outlined in Table 6.

New staff with ADA are on probation for one year. In that time the new D.A.s work under the supervision of a more experienced D.A. thus learning many practical aspects of agricultural extension. New staff also attend a week long orientation session after six months on the job. This session includes department orientation as well as small group workshops

and an opportunity to meet other people in the same situation.

Syskatchewan Department of Agriculture (SDA)

The regionalization concept as practiced by the SDA, with a mixture of line and functional staff authority, has assisted subject matter specialists in training and working with other members of the organization. It therefore follows that information flow from Regional Farm Management Specialists to other specialists in the region as well as from head office Farm Management Specialists to regional and district staff is greatly aided. An example of this information flow on a more structured basis is a two day seminar dealing with farm incorporation held last winter in onregion for regional and district staff. A head office subject matter specialist with the assistance of a private specialist in that field dealt with tax and legislative implications of farm incorporation with the expressed purpose of teaching those attending enough so that they could use the information in the future. It is understood that this process, albeit less formal, is carried out upon request from the regions or districts.

The content of the inservice training programs undertaken by the SDA over the last couple of years is outlined in Table 6. It will suffice here to say how the courses were organized and taught. The first course consisted of eight days of instruction and was held in Kindersley and again in Yorkton in January and February of 1976. The course was open to all Extension and Rural Development Division field staff including Agricultural Representatives, Regional Farm Management Specialists, Farm Development Specialists, Community Projects Specialists, Credit Officers and Land Bank Counsellors. An instructor with several years of experience

in FBM was hired to coordinate and teach the course. The second course was a communication-counselling training program set up in May of 1976 to be carried out over three five day weeks. One week was held in June 1976 and the others in September, 1976 and January, 1977. The need for this type of course was expressed by field staff and was designed for Farm Development Specialists, Agricultural Representatives, Credit Officers, and other subject matter specialists. The course was designed and taught by the staff of the Student Counselling Services of the U of Sask. The contents of the June session are fisted in Table 6. The September and January sessions are designed to develop these skills to a greater depth and build on case material brought in by participants.

The other forms: of inservice training undertaken by SDA staff are discussed below. The arm Management Specialists travelled to Winnipeg in the winter of 1975-76 to attend a two day grain marketing seminar in order to prepare themselves to give grain marketing siminars to farmers in their regions. Traditionally, each year approximately four Agricultural Representatives are sent to the Arizona School of Extension in Tuczon to attend courses in extension. However, there has been no one on full time education leave to acquire advanced degrees for the past two years.

Finally, the SDA works closely with the Extension Divison of the U of Sask in providing resource people for extension programs. There number of joint appointments of professors who spend one half of ime teaching and the other half in extension work. In the past stension Division of the U of Sask has offered credit courses to SDA staff, an example of which is an extension program planning and

evaluation course. However, the SDA has steared away from credit courses preferring job related courses which are tailored to accommodate the needs of extension workers.

Manitoba Department of Agriculture (MDA)

The following is a brief stimmary statement of Mr. Ron Mitchell, Chief, Farm Management Section, indicating where most of the FBM inservice training has been concentrated.

> Inservice training programs have been concentrated in two main areas if we use the Counselling Chart as a guide. These were in matters covered by Band C and Band I, Accounting and Business Organization, respectively. Some minor camounts of training occured relative to some subjects in Bands D, E, F, G, H and K.

> Much of this training has taken place in the regions of the Province, carried out by our Farm Management Specialists. The target group has been primarily the Farm Advisors who work with clients in our Farm Diversification Program and Agricultural Representatives.¹

The MDA has also offered inservice courses to its' Farm Management Specialists, one in May 1974 and another in May of 1975. Both courses were sponsored jointly by the Economics Branch of the MDA and the SFDP and their contents are listed in Table 6. A number of staff have also attended university courses in the past three years. One staff member was assisted in finishing his Bachelor of Science in Agriculture program, one staff member is taking Business Administration courses part time at the U of Man, and another has taken an extension course at Colorado State University.

At the p ent time there are no special courses for new staff and it is up to the more experienced staff to work with and orientate new starr lowever, new staff are required to serve a six month

¹ Correspondence from R. Mitchell, October 13, 1976.

72

仪门

probationary period. The MDA is also investigating the development of an orientation process for new staff, "especially with respect to general orientation to working in government and to programs in which the Department is involved".¹ In addition to this orientation, new FBM staff will spend the first couple of weeks touring their region, studying the geography and meeting with all the staff and the regional director. "In this way the new person can get a better idea of how to relate to the present taff and to determine the kinds of needs that have to be fulfilled."²

Ontario Muniserry of Agriculture and Food (UMAF)

The OMAF's concept of farm management is larger than just FBM and includes production technology and cultural practices as vital parts. The Agricultural Representative coordinates the efforts of the Assistant Agricultural Representatives, Agricultural Engineers, Livestock Specialists, Soils and Grops Specialists, and other Ministry staff in his geographical area toward an integrated team approach to solving overall farm management problems with area farmers. There is also considerable amount of information flow amongst team members and from head office staff, thus constituting a very valuable form of inservice training. The fact that it usually takes a person from five to eight years, depending on position vacancies, to become an Agricultural Representative shows that there is also a comprehensive form of apprenticeship training.

The OMAF uses workshops for the inservice training of staff that may consist of a combination of production technology and FBM. It also works on a contract basis with the U of Guelph, thus providing added expertise at these workshops, as well as on other occasions. A list of

Ibid.

Ibid.

¢.

these workshops and other FBM related inservice training programs is available in Table 6.

Quebec Department of Agriculture (QDA) 🤹

In order to get a better under and ing of the present FBM related inservice training some relavant history should first be presented. In 1965 the Quebee government made FBM a priority among all staff of the QDA.-A simple account book was designed and every professional working in the field for QDA, no matter what his job, was obliged to stan on and work with about twenty farmers. Each fieldman was therefore trained out how to operate the account book including inventory, and financial statements By the late 1960's both a group analysis system and a data bank system were in operation in conjunction with Laval U. However, by 1990 the progtan was revised because it was felt that too much time was spent on the account book and no nough on budgeting. Also, at this time canfarm was introduced into Quebec. Looking after farm accounts is now the to, of the Farm Management Technician not the professional agriculture foxtension worker.

Inservice training of the professional staff at the county, regional and head office level is less intensive than it once was and is now the job of the regional and head office FBM Specialists. All the staff receive training in record keeping and analysis we well as partial, complete, and cashflow budgeting. This budgeting is both manual and computerized and includes some linear programming. The Regional Farm Management Specialists meet with the County Agricultural Agents in their regions for about two, three day sessions a year. The feedback from these sessions has indicated that the field staff prefer the manual budgets and the less detailed computerized management tools to the mor etailed computerized J

75 budgets, including linear programming. At one time there was a one week FBM extension course offered to County Agricultural Agents, however this has not continued in the last three years. There continues to be occasional special courses offered by head office specialists on partnerships, corporations and other estate planning topics. The Farm Management Specialists meet at least two or three times a year to discuss various topics. The topics of the June 1976 meeting are listed in Table 6. Information transfer and other, faformal methods constitute a major part of the inservice training of QDAs professionals Working in the area of PBM counselling. There are many informal> meeting telephone conversations, between Regfonal Farm Management Specialists and County Agricultural Agents. More formal meetings between these staff members usually occur about pree every two months, and last a day or two New staff members are on probation for the first year and are under the superivision of a more experienced staff member. This allows them to receive information from the more experienced staff members thus learning about FMI counselling and agricultural extension work in general. County Agricultural Agents and other staff also receive considerable inservice training from variant university courses. From 1962 to 1972 there was a compulsory two to three week extension, FBM and office administration course offered by Laval U. In 1974 a new two to three week course was designed at Laval U for lending officers. It includes many of the accounting and FBM counselling skills needed by lending officers. Laval U also offered courses in communications, counselling, personnel management, and supervision to staff members, but not in the last three years. Educational leave to receive advanced degrees is also available to QDA staff, but has been curtailed in the last couple of years.

The final form of training available to QDA staff is more indirect. QDA staff are responsible for administering the Ministry of Education farmer training programs in FBM. This includes the apparation of video tape lectures and demoving itions as well as being approvance person for the farmers involved in the job of administering and teaching is also benefical to the field staff involved because they concurrently learn the concepts better.

New Brunswick Department of Agriculture and Rural Development (NBDARD)

A significant portion of the BBM related inservice training of the NBDARD staff at present is accomplished by attending formal courses usually sponsored by educational institutions. However, there there and been many staff mombers on extended educational leave to seek advanced degrees in the recent past. The staff also attend a variety of shorter courses, an example of which was the one-and one half days spent in Charlottetown in May of 1976. The contents of this course are outlined in Table 6.

The NRDARD at one time used the workshop approach in their inservice training, but have Mad-little of this training in the last four years. There are two reasons for this, first, a very low staff turnover and second, people are sent to other vailable courses as mentioned above. Recently there has been a large staff turnover and therefore three separate inservice workshops for extension personnel were conducted in October of 1976. The content of these workshops is outlined in Table 64. Another form of inservice training used by the N BDARD is courses sponsored by the Treasury Board of the New Brunswick government. The

majority of these courses cover the skills outlined in competency area A.

- 76

pof the DACUM chart for FBM counselling and thereby include counselling skills as well as supervisory skills, and other psychological type skill training.

The flual form of inservice training offered by the NBDARD is a form of apprenticeship program. New Di crict Agriculturists are on probatfon for about six months, and are placed with a more experienced senior District Agriculturist. The supervising District Agriculturist is responsible for training the news maff member in most of the skills needed on the job.

Prince Edward Island Department of Agriculture and Forestry (PEIDAF)

Inservice training at the PEIDAF is focused around the individualized learning provessionming from the DACUM approach to curriculum development. Staff are encouraged to enter a program of processional development through individualized learning at Holland College is tharlotterown. Essentially this means that a person can go at any time and advance through a program of professional development, at his or her own pace. This individualized learning process is also carried out at the various Resource Centers throughout the province. Staff are encouraged to use the materials already developed under the Atlantic Farm Business Project as well as modules on FBM counselling as they are made available by CFMC.

There are other forms of inservice training available to PEIDAF staff. The PEIDAF offers inservice training to staff members on an ad hoc basis when they identify a particular training need. The PEIDAF sature has staff members on extended educational leave in order to pursue higher degrees or to attend the various courses offered by universities. New staff with the PEIDAF have to go through a twelve month probationary period. During this time the individual is assigned to a supervisor who is responsible for his or her orientation and training. The final form of training is the several courses offered by the 21 civil service in counselling, group processes, and institutional techniques including supervising and interviewing skills:

Nova Scotia Department of Agriculture and Marketing (NSDAM)

Most inservice training of NSDAM staff is done on an ad hoe basis upon requests from the field staff. The farm Management; Specialists speak at the regional meetings that occur about three times per year. They will also have several informal meetings and telephone convorsations with the Agricultural Representatives throughout the year time Farm Management Specialists themselves, will get together once every two or three months to discuss any new topics or recurring problems that may have arisen. New Agricultural Representatives also follow a form of apprinticeship program for approximately two years. During this time they work with and are supervised by a more senior Agricultural Representative who is responsible for teaching them the appropriate skills needed by an agrito speck advanced degrees is available to staff members. Finally, there are short courses offered by the government of Nova Scotia dealing with sensitivity training, group processes and communications.

Newfoundland Depa. out of Forestry and Agriculture (NfldDFA)

The information on inservice training offered to the staff of the NfldDFA was gathered through correspondence with Mr. L. Johnson, Farm Management Specialist, St. John's, Newfoundland. In his letter he states: In the last two years our inservice training program has basically centered around the Atlantic Farm Business Project Materials (DACUM).... In addition, we conducted several short courses and workshops to the various farm management skills such as estimate planning, budgeting, record keeping, etc. 1

Farm Credit Corporation (FCC)*

1.16

Before 1973 FCC had offered a rather comprehensive FBM inservice training caurse, with its own text, and quite naturally emphasizing the areas of credit and finance management. It was taken by new staff over a period of two to three winters. The first winter consisted of the principles and concepts of FBM. The participants were given instruction intra central location for three to five days and then given exercises to do for the next sessere in the first winter consisted of studying a case from a factor in their own area, using the principles and emberts learned carlier. The feedback from participants was that there was too much emphasis on theory and not enough on the more easily applied management tools.

Current training in FBM is not as rigorous as before 1973. Most of the Credit Advisors hired in recent years have taken FBM courses and many have "pecialized in agricultural economics. New staff indoctrination therefore concentrates on lending policy and appraisal techniques as well as basic FBM concepts. This indoctrination session takes three to five days, is administered on a branch basis, and therefore varies from branch to branch. New staff are also on probation for a minimum of six months and in that time work closely with senior and more experienced staff. Arrangements can be made for educational leave and are usually applied to evening courses related to the job. Extended educational leave to seek advanced degrees, has been halted in the last couple of years.

Correspondence from Mr. L. Johnson, September 8th, 1976.

Future training in FBM will depend on feedback from field staff. The feedback so far has indicated that they would like more training in practical financial management, that is, financial statement preparation and analysis as well as more emphasis on the communicating, counselling, and interviewing skills. Additionally, the FBM modules being developed under the CFMC appear to have potential for training purposes.

The Small Farm Development Program (SFDP)

Seconded staff of the SFDP usually attend the various inservice training courses offered to the regular staff of their host province. In some cases SFDP staff assist in running the training session as happened in Red Deer, Alberta in the spring of 1976.

Buture inservice training of SEDP staff fit center around two major points. The first is FBM knowledge and the sould is the counselling skills necessary to work with small farmers on mone to one basis. If they cannot find people with these two attributes they are willing to take an individual with only one and teach that person the other. The second major point is that the SEDP wish to use the DACUM chart for FBM counselling and the training modules developed from that chart as a main instrument for training.

New staff with the SFDP have to go through a twelve month probationary period. On occasion some interface of time. "Special training or more experienced staff for short periods of time. "Special training or orientation sessions for new staff have been minimal because very seldom do a number of new staff report at any one time and provincial programs differ significantly from one province to another."¹ However, in some a cases, new SFDP staff have participated in provincial new staff orientation

Correspondence from R. /Benoit, October 26, 1976.

meetings.

There are several other types of inservice training available to SFDP staff. In the past, special courses have been organized on a regional basis specifically for SFDP. There are also courses offered in special areas of FBM counselling. Examples of these are a communications seminar held in Manitoba and proposals for a future course, likely in the winter; of 1976-77, specializing in the counselling and other skills rated as needed by SFDP staff in recent meetings. Full time educational leave is also available to SFDP staff. They average about two people per year on this type of leave, with the requirements being that further education either advances the person's own skills on the job of that the research He of the se done can be used by the SFIP. Shorter term educational leave is also available. Some start of the SFDP have also attended the FBM courses at the U of Guelph, Oregon State University, and NSAC. Einally, the Public Service Commission has offered courses that can be applicable to SFDP staff, including communication seminars and management skills seminars.

Canfarm Service Agency (CSA)

The following is a comment made by Mr. Bob Lockwood, the former head of the Market Development Section of CSA in reply to the question about FBM related inservice training to CSA staff.

> Canfarm Service Agency has been involved in FBM training of CSA staff, contact agency staff, students of diploma and degree programs at colleges, and commercial farmers across Canada. Generally, this training is specific to utilization of Canfarm records) planning and data bank services in farm management decision making.

Our basic thrust has been to teach farmors the skills required to utilize Canfarm services effectively in decision making and be able to operate those services relatively independently within reasonable periods of time. Generally, CSA works with the extension people, the contact agents and instructors at the colleges and only infrequently with farmers directly.

A second major approach involves working with contact agency staft of itentifying specific information needed within their relarity research, extension and education programs. The identified the needs, we can then design recording processing and retrieval procedures to produce the information required in a timely, continuous fashion. It is essential in this application approach that farmers see benefits to themselves or are adequately compensated for recording beyond their needs. 82

Finally, CSA works with consultants and extension personnel in the ultization of various planning services from cashflow projection to dairy feed formulation services. Contact agencies use these services in farm management problem solving with individual farmers as well as in the development of various benchmark situations for extension programs, gtc.¹

Canfarm Service Agency directs its' educational approaches, training materials, and promotions at the farmer. The CSA and contact agency staff are also instructed in the use of these approaches and material. The CSA field staff are called together at least twice a year, inche spring and fall, for a conference in which they distribute nature of marketing, planning, and technical operation of the Communication.

Inservice Training at Government Agencies - Summary of the Past Three Years

Table 6 presents the contents of the more formal inservice training courses sponsored by the various government agencies in the last three years. Not all the government agencies supplied detailed information on the more formal courses and in fact some agencies did not have formal courses in this time period. It should be noted that these are just summaries of the contents and that the agency's overall training philosophy is outlined in the text above. It should allow be noted that some of these "contents" are only topies that were discussed at rather informal meetings of agency staff.

Correspondence from B. Lockwood, October 13, 1976,

CONTENTS OF THE INSERVICE THAT COURSES OFFERED BY THE GOVERNMENT AGENCIES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS

TABLE 6

	-+ + · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•
Agency	Length, Year and Contents of Courses	.,
CDA	- 3 weeks in January of 1973 - FBM in general.	
	- 3 weeks in November 1974 - financial planning for small farmers (financial statement preparation in absence of records for loan applications).	
•	- 5 days in January 1975 - 35% records (Canfarm Version . - 111), rest on tax management and estate planning.	
	 - A days July 1975 - economic theory (profit maximization) (1/2 day) what bankers look for in financial planning (1/2 hour), rest of time on Canfarm farm planning pack- ages and terminal operation. 	
	- 3 days in February 1976 - Canfarm farm planning packages (1 day), Canfarm Version III (2 days).	
	- 5 days in November 1976 - business organization (partner- ships and corporations) (2 days), leasing and contract (1/2 day), advanced estate planning case studies (1 day), land and building assessment and land tax quotas and marketing problems (1/2 day).	
Α.	 - 1 week fall 1973 - basic economic principles in FBM, sfarm accounting, tax management, budgeting (complete and partial), Canfarm records and farm planning packages, computerized FBM-game. - 1 week fall 1973 - Advanced FBM - case studies in budget- ing (complete and partial), tax management strategies, estate planning (partnerships, corporations, and farm transfers), Canfarm records (interpretation and group analysis). 	2
	- 3 four day long sessions in the spring of 1976 - FBM philosophy and goal identification, decision making process, FBM principles, extension of FBM technology, group case study analysis of farm problems and determining farmer objectives, building a working relationship with filents, communication of ideas, an analysis method for identification of a farm problem, economic aspects of the case study, identify/the problem and suggestisolations', work in groups, farm family goals and resource allocation, production records (hog ROP and milk recording), using cost studies, understanding the basic tax rules, tax management strategies, performance indicators and control of management decisions, cash flows and farm planning,	

-83

1

. 15

TABLE 6 (Con^ft)

٠.

Agency	Length, Year and Content's of Courses
ADA (con't)	extension techniques and metrication, home records in
	FBM context, developing family financial statements
1	(income, net worth and cash flow statements), what can
	financial statements tell the family decision makers,
	types of arrangements (partnerships, incorporations
	etc:), estate planning for farm families.
SDA	- 8 days in January and February of 1976 - introduction
ß	to FBM, labor management, assessing levels of manage-
12	ment, four costs of production, farm planning (defini-
	tion, purpose, problems), tools of farm planning
	(complete and partial budgets and cash flows) analysis
	of present farm operation, farm reorganization, case
	study preparation, farm records, economic principles.
	compound interest, financing and credit management
4. ²	machinery economids, livestock decisions, income dax
24 1	management, farm buisness arrangements.
a series a s	- 5 days in May of 1976 - Communication-Counselling -
n an	concern census (what staff participating want), interview
•	skills, assessment (contracting with clients, the rescue
	trap, effective feedback skills), communications skills,
2.**. Cas	intervention skills (exploration, confrontation, action
1997 - 19 1 99	planning), and the helping relationship. *
IDA .	- 10 days in May of 1974 -
• .	1. Orientation - structure of MDA, farm diversification
er i i	program, technical services program, Manivoba herd health
•	, programs, SFDP, Manitoba agricultural credit, corporation
· · ·	program, Manitoba crop insurance program.
ан (т. 1997) 19	2. Working with Small Farmers - understanding and working
ì	with the small farmer, individual experiences in working
	with small farmers, communication and communication tech-
	niques.
•	3. Assisting the Retiring and Out-Migrating Farmers -
	identification of (sources of income, needs for income,
· ·	management of surplus income, and adjustment of deficit
	income), basic mathematics for annuity type calculations,
	personnel adjustment problems, money management topics.
	4. Introduction to FBM - the discipline of FBM, goals,
•	and objectives of FBM, resource allocation and economic
	principles, adjustments required in moving from traditional
	clients to small farmers, bibliography of useful material,
	basic farm accounting, financial statements, farm finan-
Section 11	cing, budgeting, construction of cash flows, farm business
147 ° J	organization, analysis of a farm business, summer assign-
••	ment.

1

TABLE 6 (Con't)

. 1

Agency	Length, Year and Contents of Courses
NDA (Con't)	- 3 days in May of 1975 - Farm Business Organization Work- shop - partnerships, corporations, co-operatives, a comparison of above arrangements, case problems (work- shop groups, group presentation), considerations in - transfer of farm business, income tax.
oma f _{ip} ?	- 1. 1975 <u>Swine Extension Workshop</u> - pork production in- formation, financial and busines records, comparative analysis summaries, viability of the pork enterprise.
,	- 2. 1975 - Dairy Cattle Workshops - complerized dairy feed formulation, financial counselling of IMPIP loan recipients,
•	- 3. Annually - Farm Records and Farm Planning Workshops - comparative analysis summaries for various enterprises (Canfarm and Ontarlo farm record books) recomputerized farm planning and decision making tools (cash flow
. 	<pre>forecaster = Cash-plan, loan calculator, dairy farm planning model, cash grain budget system, RRSP evaluator, ' ventilation design, truss design, tractor selection, buy vs custometere, machinery replacement, machinery</pre>
*	financing), to saving, quality improvement of farm records, Canfordupdating, interpretation of Canfarm records.
· · ·	- 4. as required - <u>Canfarm Training Workshows</u> - 5. as required - Audio-Visual Aids Workshops
	-\6. December 1973 and October 1976 - Farm Financial Counselling sources and uses of farm credit, credit philo- sorie and current lending policies, developing a plan of ion and securing the necessary finances, Industrial Foduction Incentive Program (IMPIP) counselling.
	 Ally - Farm Taxes and Estate Planning Seminars and Workshops - succession duties, gift tax, land speculation tax, land transfer tax, use of land registry office, family farm transfer, capital gains tax, rights and things income averaging, livestock, CCA, RRSP, workmen's compensation, CPP, UIC; investment tax credit, quotas, farm business agreements, income sharing agreements, partnerships, farm incorporation.
	- 8. Annually - Graduate level Courses at the U of Guelph - Managerial Decision Making in Agriculture, Planning for Community Development, Administration of Extension Programs Teaching Methods in Extension Education, Evaluation of

Ţ

6

Trees In

TABLE 6 (Con't)

-2

ť

4

ر

Agency	Length, Year and Contents of Courses
OMAF (Con't)	- 9. Annually - Courses Offered by Staff Development Section, Personnel Branch OMAF - Communications, Problem Solving and Decision Making, Management SLIIIs, Public Speaking, Consulting Skills, Personal Screek Management, Teaching Methods, Conference Planning, Writing for the Public, Time Management, Interpersonal Skills, Effective Group Leadership, Advanced Communications.
	 - 10. Annual - <u>Meetings</u> - program planning, review and evaluation, establishment of objectives, preparation of plans of work.
•	- 11. Annual - <u>Staff Conference</u> - Stablization, trade and tariffs, communicating with farmers, marketing, farm and agribusiness visits, land leasing, land resources, land use planning, agricultural economics, farm credit, farm business arrangements, estate planning, tax management, and management skills.
QDA	- June of 1975 - Meeting - Caufarm management tools (dairy model and others), Canfarm groups analysis, costs of production (potatoes, cow-calf), fixed and variable costs, orientation of management (approach, clientele, syndicates, etc.).
NBDARD •	 October 1976 - Workshops - 1. farm records, concepts of cost, depreciation, net worth, net farm income, cash flow, partial and complete budgeting, the Maritime farm business game. 2. estate planning and case problems in partnerships, co-operatives, and corporations, farm business transfers and income tax. 3. Canfarm dairy feed formulation model, (1/2 days)' in May 1976 - Charlottetown - Atlantic Farm Business project, macro and micro aspects of economics, counselling procedures in the absence of farm records, summer milk versus winter milk and financial management on farms.
EIDAF -	- The DACUM individualized learning materials from Holland College and CFMC.
-	- 1 day in Spring of 1976 - <u>Meeting</u> - farm records and analysi ad hoc courses based on need.
SDAM -	ad hoc courses based on request from field staff. Farm Management Specialists speak at regional meetings about three times per year on tax changes, new marketing legis- lation, estate planning and other FBM related topics.

- 71

	Carl I have been a second s	
	TABLE 6 (Con't)	
		(
54	Length, Year and Contents of Courses	S
- Variou ing ar	ns courses and workshops in estate planning d record keeping.	
- Course	s administered on branch basis and the s	

but usually deal with lending policy and appraisal tech-

- Staff attend the various inservice training courses offered to regular staff of their host provinces.

- 3 4 days in Maritimes Workshops partial budgeting and cashflows.
- Alberta Seminar Counselling Skills.

Agency

Nf1dDFA

FCC

SFDP

CSA

- Training in farm records, planning and decision making is ongoing.

Listed below are the government agencies which have sent personnel, usually around one or two per year, to the FBM courses at the U of Guelph, Oregon State University, and NSAC. The U of Guelph course lasts six weeks, is entitled "Managerial Decision Making in Agriculture" and is described in Table 5. The Oregon State University course is also a six week graduate course dealing with the many aspects of FBM and is simply called "Farm Business Management". The NSAC "Farm Business Management" course is three weeks long and is designed as an inservice training course for practicing agrologists. U of Guelph - BCDA, ADA, MDA, OMAF, NBDARD, Fill/F, NSDAM, SFDP. Oregon State University = BCDA, ADA, SFDP. 87

761 10 10 10

ASA HARACT

Survey of Agency Professionals

The Respondent Sample

Each of the thirteen government agencies was asked to submit the names of professional staff employed in the following professional categories; 1. general agricultural extension workers, 2. farm credit advisors, 3. FBM counsellors, and 4. FBM resource specialists. A total of 1,091 names were received from which a 30% "proportionate stratified" random sample was selected. The resulting sample of 339 individuals was mailed questionnaires and background information on the study.² Two hundred and eighteen individuals, or 64% of those sampled, returned the questionnaire. A detailed breakdown of the respondents by agency and professional category is presented in Table 7.

Table 8 provides information on respondents' highest educational levels, years of experience and percentage of time spent directly on FBM counselling. Unexpectedly, not all of the respondents have university degrees. Thirty-five had either diploma degrees or no post secondary education. Because an objective of the study was to evaluate university education in relation to the profession of FBM counselling, these thirty-five are excluded from the analysis, leaving 183 respondents with university degrees as the basic sample for the remainder of the analysis.

While several respondents spent minimal amounts of time on FBM counselling, it is important to note that on the average, each professional category utilizes. a substantial portion of its total time on the

¹ See p. 41, footnote 1 for the definitions of the professional categories.

² See pp. '48-49 for explanation of sampling procedure and Appendices B and C for the questionnaire and background information.

Juamurano	TOLAL	lotal					•	
Agencies	Submit ted	Sampled	General		Kespondents			ł
			Agricultural Extension Workers	Farm Credit Advisors	FBM Counsellors	FBM Resource	Total	
BCDA	24	8.		c		STATISTS	Keturned	¢
ADA	142	42	- 15 - 15	, ,	0	2	5	
SDA	81	26		ວັ ເ	Ö	<u>د</u>	28	
MDA	78	23	. 7 ,	، ر <u>،</u>	2	2a	18 -	. •
OMAF	129	39	33	N (5	1	12	
QDA	184	56	2 CT		7	33	38	
NBDARD	25	10	1 0	\ 	2	2	21	• .
NSDAM	27	œ	4	4 -			9	
PEIDAF	15	Ŋ		c	0	,	5	•
NfldDFA	, œ	٩	0		0 0	0	с С	
	269	83	0	5 7	0	0	0	
SFDP	59	18	9		2 1	. 2	59	
	50	15	0	0 0	• •	н г ;	14	
TOTALS	109,1	339 .		78 ^c	17	, , ,	80 og	

.

ja Ś

:

.

111

TABLE 8

RESPONDENTS' HIGHEST EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT, AVERAGE EXPERIENCE IN AGRICULTURAL EXTENSION AND PERCENTAGE OF TIME SPENT IN FBM COUNSELLING

*

Formal Education	Gen. Agricul Exten Worker	. Farm Credi s Advisors	lt FBM Counsellors	FBM Resources Specialists
Masters 🔹 ,	17	1	4	. 14
Bachelors	78	47	13	· 17
Agrícultural Diploma	· 0	16 · · ·	0	2.
Non-Agricultural Diploma	0	2	0	2
No Post-Secondary Education	• 2	12	0	1
TOTAL	97	. 78	17	26
Average years of Experience in Ag. Extension Average Percent of	10.6	7.4	10.'4	· 7.7
ime Spent on FBM ounselling	41.0%	41.5%	52.5%	25.0%
istribution of espondents by Time pent on FBM Coun- elling			\	6) -
of time	4.1%	9.0%	11.8%	23.1%
- 25%	37.1%	23.1%	5.9%	38.4%
- 50%	32.0%	34.6%	29.4%	23.1%
- 75%	25.8%	4.1%	23.5%	7.7%
- 100%	1.0% 1	9.2%	29.4%	7.7%
			•	•

subject. This emphasizes the importance of FBM counselling as a subject area in agricultural extension work. The high levels of activity in both general extension and credit advisory work suggests that its importance should not be overlooked by the agencies when hiring and training staff.

91

Table 9 shows a more detailed breakdown of formal education by type of education and professional category. While there are a number of items of general interest, some important specific details are:

- 1. That approximately 62% of farm credit advisors have university degrees. This was unexpected since a major objective of the study was to obtain professional workers' opinions on their university education. This may imply a better form of stratifying the population was needed before the sample was done.
- 2. That approximately 54% of the FBM resource specialists have masters degrees.
- 3. That only 14% of all respondents indicated they have bachelor degrees with majors in agricultural economics.

Respondents' Perceived Skill Needs
The Individual Skills

The basis for rating the importance of the FBM counselling skills by respondents, was the DACUM chart for FBM counselling shown in Appendix A, and the rating scale explained on page 41. Each of the 183 respondents with university degrees was asked to rate at least a portion of and if possible all of the 133 individual skills on the DACUM chart. Thus, while not all of the respondents rate, all of the skills, the sample was arranged so that every skill was rated by at least a third of the respondents. This procedure was felt necessary to reduce the time required by each

TABLE 9

Į

FORMAL EDUCATION OF RESPONDENTS (in percentages)

Education	Gen.Agric. Exten.Workers	Farm Credi Advisors		FBM Res. s Specialist	Total	;
No Post-Secondary Education	2.1	15.4	0	3.9	6.9	. -
Non Agricultural	۱.			•		
Diploma	0	6.4	5.9	11.5	4.1 [.]	
Agric. Diploma	11.3	24.4	17.6	,15.4	16.0	
Majors				,13.4	16.9	
1. Agric. Busisne	55					٦
& Extension Ed.	1.0			- 1 - F		
2. Animal Science	2.1	0	5.9	7.7	1.8	
3. Dairy Science		1.3	0	0	1.4	
4. Not specified	1.0 .	1.3	0	0	0.9	e a ser e
	7.2	21.8	11.8	7.7	12.4	• •
achelor Dégrees	98.7	61.7	100.0	88.3	84.0	
. Agriculture	90.6	5 2 0	•	Р. , т . ,		3
		53.9	94.1	73.0	75.7 .	
ajors					,	
Agric Econ.	12.4	11.5	23.5	23.1	1/ 0	
2. Animal Science	8	7.7	35.3		14,2	
3. Agronomy	12	3.9		11.5	18.8	
. Not specified	* 39 1	30.8	11.8	11.5	9.1	•
Other Bachelor	•	JU.0	23.5	26.9	33.5	
					, ÷ .	
Degrees vpes	8.1	.7.8 .	5.9	15.3	8.6	•
	0.0.1		•		0.0	
Arts	3.0 :	1.3	0	11.5	2 1	. '
. Commerce	1.0	2.6	Ő Í		3.1	
. Education	0	1.3	Ő	.3.8	1.8	•
Not Specified	4.1	2.6	5.9	0 •	0.4	
store Dear	<u> </u>		J.7	0	3.0	
sters Degrees	17.7	1.3	23.6	53.8	16.5	• ·
pes			•	•	,	- 1
. Incomplete . FBM or Exten.	5.2	0 ^	5.9	3.8	3.3	
Education	5.2	0		• : •		
Other Ag. Econ.	2.1 (0	11.8	26.9 -	6.4	, '* .
Other Ag.	• • •	0	5.9	15.4 -	3.2	
Bus. Admin.	5.2	0	0	0	2.3	
. 200. VUMTU.	0 \	1.3	0	7.7	1.4	•
•						
			· (•		

92

ĺ

respondent in answering the questionnaire.

Table 10 shows a breakdown of the skills by competency area and average rating of importance and use. This table summarizes one of the more important aspects of the study, and consequently it is worth examining at some length. Individual skills in each competency area are listed in order of descending importance and use within each score category, ranging from:

3.0 to 4.0 - skill is important and used on the job. 2.5 to 3.0 - skill is important but used less frequently on the

job.

2.0 to 2.5 - skill may be in a specialist's area.

1.0 to 2.0 - skill is not important to the job of FBM counselling or at least should be a specialist's concern.

The rank order, from J to 133, of the individual skills rated by the 183 respondents used in the analysis is shown in Appendix D.

An examination of the data presented in Table 10 and Appendix D. shows that there is a wide range in the preceived importance and use of the various skills on the DACUM chart. Following, are short summaries of how the skills in each competency area were rated and ranked.

The skills in competency area A were perceived as being particularly important. In fact, about one half of them were ranked in the top twenty of all 133 skills examined. The results suggest that communicating; counselling and interviewing clients is perceived to be a very important if not the most important area in FBM counselling.

The skills in competency area **B** were generally rated lower in importance and use than the skills in competency area A. Twelve of the skills are rated over 2.5, thus showing some importance and use to the

AN ANALYSIS BY AVERAGE SCORE AND RANK ORDER OF THE FBM SKILLS RATED BY THE 183 RESPONDENTS ANALYSED 2.0 6,10,13,1 7,9,2,8 3 5,2;6,1 1.0 3,6,4,10,5,7,8,11 14,16,17,15,2 2.0 to 2.5 4,11,5,3,12 Breakdown 5,11,12 7,8,10 1,8 13 Average Score 5,9,7,1,12,4,11, 10,13 7,10,5,4,9,6 2.5 to 3.0 4,5,2,9,1,6 9,10,8,7,6 10,11,5 7,4,3, 9,10;3 9,2,1 œ. TABLE 10 3,6,4,1,7,8,9,12 1,2,7,5,6,4,8,11 1,7,10,12,6,13 10,15,11,12,18 3.0 to 4.0 3,11,9,4,2,5 17,16,8,9,14 3,6,2,1,5 6,3,8 3,2 m D (Obtain & Manage Physical Resources) C (Assist in Establishing, Maintain-B (Plan, Implement & Evaluate Farm & (Advise on Management Implication E (Advise on Financial Management) F (Develop & Evaluate Alternative of Laws and Legislation Affecting H (Advise on Marketing Strátegy), Management Training & Extension I (Advise on Estate Planning and Concepts K (Inform and Advise on Business ing and Utilizing Farm Records) Management Concepts & Processes) A (Communicate, Counsel and J (Inform and Advise on of Personnel Management) Businest Arrangements) Farm Business Plans) Competency Areas Interview) Programs) Farmers)

These numbers are arranged in descending brder of importance from left to right NOTE: The numbers in the columns represent the individual skills that are outlined in the DACUM chart for FBM counselling in Appendix A. for each competency area.

job of FBM counselling. An unexpected observation is that skills B2, B14, B15, B16 and B17 were rated less than 2.5 and ranked in the bottom one third of all the skills on the DACUM chart. This is unexplainable, in that skills B2, B15, B16, and B17, that is, the assessment of community leadership structure, the utilization of group processes and social action, the identification and utilization of learning processes, and the identification and utilization of regional difussion processes are usually considered essential for planning, implementing and evaluating all types of extension programs. It could be possible that respondents were considering the job of FBM counselling strictly in the sense of working directly with individual farmers and therefore assuming that the process of extension, as it is outlined in competency area B, has little relevance to counselling farmers in aspects of FBM.

There was a wide range in the ratings and rankings of the skills in competency area C. The skills ranked the least important generally dealt with the more technical aspects of record keeping, that is, the preparation and maintenance of the service and production accounts. In fact, four of these skills were ranked in the bottom twenty of all 133 skills examined. Alternatively, the skills rated and ranked the most important and useful generally dealt with the preparation of the financial accounts, such as, the balance sheet, the income statement and the enterprise accounts as well as the utilization of these and other records in making FBM decisions. In fact, seven of these skills were ranked in the top twenty in importance and use of all 133 skills examined.

The majority of the skills in competency area D were rated between 2.5 and 3.0. This suggests the skills in this area are "important but used less frequently on the job". The rankings of their importance and

use also suggests they are less important and useful than the skills in competency area A and the financial record preparation and utilization skills of competency area C.

Competency areas E and F are both considered important and useful areas in FBM counselling. The majority of the skills in these two areas were rated over 3.0, and a total of six skills were ranked in the two twenty for importance and use of all 133 skills examined. Therefore results suggest that, financial management and the development and evaluation of alternative farm business plans along with the skills of competency area A and those noted in competency area C are perceived to be the most important and useful skills in FBM counselling.

The skills in competency areas G and H were generally rated less than 2.5, thus suggesting that they "may be in a specialist's area". Some of the skills were rated over 2.5 thereby suggesting respondents perceived some use and importance for them. The data suggests that there are more important areas in FBM counselling than competency areas G and H, however these two areas should not be completely ignored in training programs.

The majority of the skills in competency area I were rated between 2.5 and 3.0, thus suggesting that respondents perceived them to be "important but used less frequently on the job". Due to the relatively complex and individualized skills needed in estate planning and business arrangements the results suggest that training programs should continue in this area because respondents perceive this to be a relatively important part of their jobs.

The skills in competency area J were rated and ranked the least important and useful of all the skills on the DACUM chart. In fact, eleven
of the thirteen skills were ranked in the bottom twenty of all 133 skills examined. The results suggest that training programs in FBM counselling need not include material on this competency area.

All the skills in competency area K, except for the skill to utilize computer application in FBM (K4), were rated over 3.0, thus suggesting they are perceived to be "important and used on the job". The skill to utilize computer applications in FBM was rated between 2.5 and 3.0, thereby suggesting it is "important but used less frequently on the job". It would appear that the skills in competency area K are perceived to be important and useful by the survey respondents.

The Competency Areas

The previous analysis centered around the perceived importance of the individual skills. In order to summarize further, the analysis of skill areas in FBM counselling, based on the notion of ranking by importance and use, Table 11 shows the rank ordering of the eleven competency areas. Generally, skills considered of greatest importance should be closely related to competency area rankings, but not necessarily. An important skill for example, might be contained in a competency area not considered particularly important.

As might be expected, there was found to be a high relationship between important skills and competency areas. The Table shows that the top four competency areas were A, E, C and F, dealing with communicating, financial management, record utilization and the development and evaluation of alternative farm business plans respectively. This was also discovered in the previous analysis by individual skills.

°97

TABLE 11 '

AVERAGE RATING AND RANKINGS OF THE COMPETENCY AREAS ON THE BACUM CHART FOR FBM COUNSELLING BY ALL RESPONDENTS WITH AT LEAST BACHELOR DEGREES

Competency Areas	Average Score	Rank Order
A - (Communicate, Counsel and Interview)	3.797	1
B - (Plan, Implement and Evaluate Farm Management Training and Extension Programs)	2.824	7
C - (Assist in Establishing, Maintaining, and Utilizing Farm Records)	3.356	3
D - (Obtain and Manage Physical Resources)	3.075	5 ·
E - (Advise on Financial Management)	3.474	2
F - (Develop and Evaluate Alternative Farm Business Plans)	3.144	*
G - (Advise on Management Implications of Laws and Legislation Affecting Farmers)	2.529	. 9
H - (Advise on Marketing Strategy)	2.472	10
I - (Advise on Estate Planning and Business Arrangements)	2.788	8
<pre>J - (Inform and Advise on Concepts of Personnel Management)</pre>	1.786	, 11
K - (Inform and Advise on Business Management Concepts and Processes)	2.875	6

Differences by Professional Category, Region of Canada and Years of Service

١.

Whether there are significant differences between professional categories, regions of Canada and years of service in agricultural extension concerning the importance and use of the FBM counselling skills is

another important queries. The Spearman rank correlation coefficient test was used to determine these differences. Spearman rank correlation coefficients were calculated for the individual skills and the competency areas, using professional categories, regions of Canada and length of service as variables.

Using the t test for statistical significance discussed in Chapter 111 it was found that there were no significant differences between professional categories, regions of Canada, or respondent's length of service and all 183 respondents collectively in terms of perceived importance and use of the individual skills on the CACUM chart for FBM counselling In other words, neither professional category, regions of Canada nor length of service appeared to change the perceived rank order importance of the individual skills to the job. One could concerde that training emphasis can be similar for all groupings.

Analysis by competency area rather than by skills as above provided similar results with two exceptions. The Quebec and SFDP groupings differed significantly from the group of all 183 respondents taken together. The Quebec group rated competency areas C and F less important, and G and H more important than all 183 respondents taken as a group, thereby indicating some modification of future training programs. Speculation on reasons for this difference lead to the possible conclusion that in Quebec, university training is considerably more FBM and extension oriented with FBM courses, extension methods courses and on the job apprenticeship being mandatory. In the case of the SFDP group, information on

competency area ranking was considered insufficient to make any assertions

⁴ The different professional categories are explained on p. 41. The regions of Canada were analyzed as follows; B.C. and the Prairies, Ontario, Quebec, and the Maritimes, Canfarm, FCG and the SFDP were also analyzed as individual groups and compared with the other groupings. The length of service groupings were; 1-3 years, 4-10 years and 10 plus years.

because only two respondents rated the competency area section.

It should be noted that the ranking of the importance and use of " the 133 individual skills and the eleven competency areas was done significantly similar by the 183 questionnaire respondents as by the supervisors that were interviewed personally

> Perceived Skill Acquisition Sources ۰,

All respondents were asked to indicate where they acquired competency in the FBM counselling skills outlined in the DACUM chart for FBM counselling. The following four sources were suggested:

A. University. B. Inservice training programs. C. On the job. D. Competency not acquired. However it was later found necessary to add a fifth indicator, E, which means the skill was acquired through a combination of A, B, and/or C. In other words it can be assumed that the respondents had some difficulty in concluding where they attained skill competency.

Table 12 shows a summary of perceived sources of skill acquisition, stratified by competency-area. Table 12 has been aggregated to show the responses of all 183 respondents taken as a group. A professional category breakdown was also done but there were few ifferences in skill acquisition between professional categories. Those differences that were found are discussed later. It can be seen from Table 2^{-2} that on the job acquisition of competence is considered by far the most important in all competency areas except perhaps competency areas G and J. In both of these areas it can be seen that the "competency not acquired" category is quite high and may suggest a training need although it should be remembered that these competency areas were not rated or ranked as too important to the job of FBM counselling. University) and inservice training were not given very much credit

7

100

€

PERCEIVED SKILL ACQUISITION BY COMPETENCY AREA FOR ALL 183 RESPONDENTS (in percentages)

•

Competency Areas	Univer- _sity	Inservic Training	e On the Job	Not Acquired	Combina- tion	•
A.(Communicate, Counsel and Interview)	 7	19	60	10	4	
B.(Plan, Implement and Evalulate Farm Manage- ment and Extension Programs)	17	16	45	21	1	
C.(Assist in Establish- ing, Maintaining and Utilizing Farm Records)	23	19	40	12	6	c
D.(Obtain and Manage Physical Resources)	29	11 ,	44	13	3	-
E.(Advise on Finan- cial Management)	18	17	55	5	5	· ·
F.(Develop and Eval- uate Alternative 'Farm Business Plans)	23	17	46	6	8	a st Astron
G.(Advise on Management Implications of Laws and Legislation Affect- ing Farmers	·					•
F. (Advise on Marketing	7	22	36	32	2 ,	
	18	9	55	5	3	
I.(Advise on Estate Planning and Business Arrangements)	3	26	43	17	1	Ŧ
J.(Inform and Advise on 🖗 Concepts of Personnel Management)		•	,	•		
(. (Inform and Advise on	4 <u>8</u>	3	39	47	2	
Susiness Management oncepts and Processes) 2	2 15		49	6	8	

for skill acquisition in any of the competency areas. This result is perhaps explained by the fact that the question asked the respondents was "Where did you acquire competence in this skill?". This may have suggested to respondents to think of the first time they used this particular skill and therefore answered with "on the job". However, if the question were worded "Where did you acquire competence in the underlying principles behind this skill as well as the ability to actually peform it?", there may have been higher response rates in the university and inservice training categories. This result suggests that the CAP system, discussed in Chapter II, of dividing each skill into required levels in each of the cognitive, affective and psychomotor domains of learning would have presented a better way of wording this question.

• Table 13 presents the competency areas in which more than 25% of each professional category acquired competence at either university or at inservice training programs. Analyzing the figures in Table 13 it would appear that general agricultural extension workers are the only respondents that regard their inservice training to be relatively more important and useful than their university training. The other professional categories considered their university training relatively more important and useful in most areas.

It is also interesting to examine the competency areas in which professional categories feel they are incompetent. Table 14 lists the competency areas in which 25% or more of the respondents in each professional category felt they had not acquired competence as well as the importance and use ranking of the competency areas.

It is evident from T. le 14 that there are several competency areas in which at least 25% of the respondents in each professional cate-

1

Balance and proved

3 TABLE 13

COMPETENCY AREAS IN WHICH 25% OR MORE OF EACH PROFESSIONAL CATEGORY FEEL THEY ACQUIRED COMPETENCE FROM EITHER UNIVERSITY OR INSERVICE TRAINING

Professional Category	Competency Are fessional Cate University	a and Perce gory in whi agguired i	entage of Each ich competence from: Inservice Tra	Was
General Agricul-			• • • •	
tural Extension Workers			7	•
workers	no competency a	areas	B – 25	
A			E - 29	- ». (
\mathbf{V}			F - 26	· \
•			G - 43	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	· .		I - 45	• •
Farm Credit	•		· · ·	
Advisors	C - 30		no competency	areas
	D - 30	,		
1 x	К – 30			
	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e			•
FBM Counsellors	D - 31		C - 33	
	Н – 36			
				•
FBM Resources	•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		×
ψ.		•	~ 1	
Specialists	B - 27	·	no competency	areas
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	C - 33			
	D - 33		, « . ·	
	F - 33			
· · · · · ·	K - 29		•	
· · ·				4. T

)

TABLE 14

COMPETENCY AREAS AND IMPORTANCE AND USE RANKINGS IN WHICH 25% OR MORE IN EACH PROFESSIONAL CATEGORY FEEL THEY ARE INCOMPETENT

Professional Category	Competency Areas and Percentage of Each Professional Category in Which They Feel Imcompetent	Importance and Use Ranking
General Agri- cultural Exten- sion Workers	J - 45	
Sion workers	5 - 45	11
Farm Credit		
Advisors	B - 32	8
	G - 46	io
	J – 54	11
FBM Counsellors	B - 34	~ (8
	J - 47	\ 10
BM Resource		
Specialists	G - 38	8
	I - 25	7
	J - 42	11

gory do not feel competent. It is of particular concern when a competency area is rated high in importance and has not been acquired by a significant percentage of the workers in each competency area. It can be seen, however, that most of the competency areas with more than 25% incompetence in any one professional category are ranked quite low in importance and use by that professional category. The only possible exception to this is the case of competency area I and the FBM resource specialists. Competency area I was ranked seventh in importance and use by the FBM resource specialists but has a 25% non competency rating. This may represent a rather urgent need for training. All the other competency areas with significant levels of non competence also represent training needs but at a lower level of priority since they were ranked lower in importance and use.

It was evident in Table 11 that competency areas A, C, E and F were considered the most important and useful by all 183 respondents taken as a group. The range of the percentage of respondents in each professional category indicating a lack of competence in these areas is listed below:

Competency Area A - from 9% of farm credit advisors and FBM resource specialists to 12% of FBM counsellors.

Competency Area C - from 7% of FBM resource specialists to 18% of the general agricultural extension workers.

Competency Area E - from 1% of FBM counsellors to 10% of general agricultural extension workers.

Competency Area F° - from 2% of FBM counsellors to 8% of general agricultural extension workers.

The analysis suggests that there is little non competence in the important and useful areas of FBM counselling.

Perceived Importance of University Courses

Respondents were asked to indicate the approximate percentage of time spent while at university and the importance and use to the job of FBM counselling of the various types of university courses outlined in Table 15. The scale used to rate the importance and use of the different university course types to the job of FBM counselling is the same as the one presented on page 41.

Table 15 shows the average time spent, in percentages, the average

TABLE 15

UNIVERSITY COURSE TYPE - TIME SPENT WHILE AT UNIVERSITY AND IMPORTANCE TO THE JOB OF FBM COUNSELLING FOR ALL 183 RESPONDENTS TAKEN AS A GROUP

		, I	,	<u>3</u>		
University Course Type	Time Spent ' While at University			Importance to the job of FBM Counselling		
	Average Percent	Rank Order	1	Average Percent	Rank Order	
1. A. Quantitative Methods	7.3	6		2.085	12	
B. Agribusiness Management	4.8	11		2.516	8	
C. Farm Business Management and Production Economics	10.9	3		3.564	1	
D. Rural Sociology and Exter sion	7.0	9		2.872	5	
E. Natural Resource Economics	3.9	14	į	2.0	13	
F. Policy and Development	4.4	13	:	2.190	-10	
G. Marketing and Trade	ح_ 5.9	10		2.592	7	
2. Other Related Social Sciences	7.1	8		2.128	11	
3. General Economics and Business	10.3	4		2.988	4	
. Agricultural Engineering	7.2	7		2.191	9	
. Animal Science	22.5	1		3.116	2	
• Entomology	4.6	12		1.965	14	
. Plant Science	14.1	2 °		3.042	3	
. Soil Science	- 8.3	5		2.812		

NOTE: Course type 9 (other) had many diverse answers thus making it worthless to analyze.

rating of importance, the ranking time spent while at university, and the ranking of the importance and use the job of FBM counselling of the various university course types lis Analysis of the data presented in Table 15 suggests that respondents feel that FBM and Production Economics, Animal Science, Plant Science, General Economics and Business and Rural Sociology and Extension are the most important and useful types of university courses. Table 15 also shows that these course types usually had the highest amount of time spent on them while at university. In fact, the Spearman rank correlation coefficient between the rankings of time spent while at university and importance and use of the course types to the job was found to be .769 and thereby significant to the .01 level.

107

This analysis suggests two possible conclusions. The first, is that the course types listed in the paragraph above are genuinely considered to be important and used on the job. The second possible conclusion is that they preceive the course types concentrated on while at university to be important to the job because they have little personal interest in the subjects outlined by the other course types.

Differences by Professional Category, Region of Canada and Length of Service

An analysis of the data presented in Table 15 was also conducted by subdividing the data into professional categories, regions of Canada and length of service groupings. The Spearman rank correlation coefficient test with its corresponding t test was then applied between the rankings of university course type importance and use by the various respondent groupings and all 183 respondents taken as a group. It was discovered that each respondent grouping ranked the importance of the various university course types the same as all 183 respondents taken as a group.

Inservice Training

All respondents were asked to indicate; 1) the number of days of inservice training they have had in the last three years, 2) it's importance to the job of FBM counselling, and 3) the need for further training in each of the competency areas outlined in the DACUM chart for FBM coun-

Ŋ-

selling. The scales they were asked to use to rate the importance of past inservice training and the need for future training are outlined on page 41. The results were averaged and ranked and are presented in Table 16.

The data presented in Table 16 suggests:

1) That the average days of past inservice training are not very high in all competency areas. The average figures have been calculated from only those responses with some indication of past training days, that is to say, the blank responses were not calculated into the average. Since there were many blank responses, the average figures shown are probably larger than they should be The figures therefore indicate a possible deficit of inservice training in the competency areas of FBM counselling in the past three years.

- 2) That all 183 respondents taken as a group rated only competency areas A, E, C and F over 3.0 when dealing with the importance of past inservice training. Competency area J was the only competency area with an average rating of less than 2.5. The results suggests that past inservice training, in general is considered important especially in Competency areas A, E, C and F, but not so for competency area J.
- 3) That there are no competency areas in which there is a great perceived need for future training. However, competency areas E, A, I, C, F and G were all rated over 2.5 and ranked form one to six respectively, thus indicating that there is a degree of felt need for future training in these areas. Competency areas H, D, B, K and J were all rated less than 2.5 and were ranked seven to eleven respectively, thus indicating only a minor perceived need

TABLE 16

INSERVICE TRAINING - DAYS RECEIVED, IMPORTANCE TO JOB, AND TRAINING NEEDED AVERAGE SCORES AND RANKINGS BY ALL RESPONDENTS WITH AT LEAST BACHELOR DEGREES

•	Day	s	Import	ance .	Futur	e Need
Competency Areas	Average	Rank	Average	Rank	Average	Rank
	Score	Order	Score	Order	Score	Order
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			-	·····	4
A - (Communicate, Counsel		_				. A 🗭
and Interview)	6.3	1	3.723	1 🗠	2.828	2
B -(Plan, Implement, &					\rightarrow	
Evaluate Farm Manage-		,	• • •		_	
ment Training & Exten-			1			· .
sion Programs)	5.2	4	2.814	6	2 257	0
			2.014	U	2.357	9
C -(Assist in Estab-	-		•		2	
olishing, Maintaining,	•	1				~ 1
& Utilizing Farm		· · ·			4	/
Records)	5.5	٤ کړ	3.348	· 3	2.724	· 4/
Madurate A 1 M		L .	•			
) - (Maintain And Manage	(7 ,)			-		_
hysical Resources)	4.3	6 ()	2.773	7	2.414	, 8
2 -(Advise on Financial	i i		•			
fanagement)	4.4	5	3.567	2	4 2.957	
		1	3.507	2	2.937	. <u>1</u>
- (Develop and Evaluate	· / `			1		
Iternative Farm Business	5 e	\$				·
lans)	4.1	7	3.232		2.720	5
		. 1		e ;	*	
-(Advise on Management						
mplications of Laws and egislation Affecting	· ,	, ·		'		
armers)	3.3	10	2 6 2 4	10	0.57	
<u> </u>	2.2	10 .	2.634	[,] 10	2.57	6
-(Advise on Marketing	1			,		
trategy)	3.3	11 ·	2.688	9	2.477	· 7
	•				4+7// (· / 🔬
-(Advise on Estate	1		4		1	X
lanning and Business				. •1		
rrangements)	3.5	9 (2.963	⁻ 5 ·	2:816	* 3
	,		-			$\epsilon = -\epsilon_{\rm c}$
-(Inform and Advise on			•		-	<i>v</i>
oncepts of Personnel	<i>c</i> 0					· ·
anagement)	6,0	2	2.057	9 11	1.972	11
-(Inform and Advise on		•			•	
siness Management	۰ ۲ ۰				•	
oncepts & Processes)	3.7	8	2.724	o l	0 154	, ` 10
······································	5.1	•	4.124	8	2.354	10

for futher training in these areas.

The Spearman rank correlation test with its corresponding t test was then applied between the rankings of days spent on inservice training, importance and use of this past inservice training and the need for future inservice training. The results are as follows:

- 1) There was only moderate positive correlation between the rankings of days of past inservice training and the importance of this inservice training to the job of FBM counselling. This result, which is only significant to the .2 level, suggests that past inservice training may not have been concentrated on some of the areas the respondents perceive most important and useful.
- 2) There was almost no correlation between the rankings of days spent on past inservice training and the need for future inservice training. This result suggests that past inservice training, in volume at least, has not satisfied the need for future inservice training. If past inservice training had satisfied this need there would have been a large negative correlation between the rankings.
- 3) There was a high positive correlation between the rankings of the importance and use of past inservice training and the need for future inservice training. This result suggests that respondents want future inservice training to be in the same areas as the important and useful past inservi¢e training. It also follows from the Earlier analysis of skill needs that these areas are basically the same areas that were considered most important, and useful to the job, that is, competency areas A, C, E and F.

Differences by Professional Category Region of Canada and Length of Service

An important question that should be answered is whether or not there are substantial differences in perceived inservice training needs between professional categories, regions of Canada and length of service. The Spearman rank correlation coefficient test and it's corresponding t test were applied to combinations or rankings of the need for future inservice training by the various respondent groupings and all 183 respondents taken as a group. It was discovered that all but four of the responden'ts groupings ranked the need for future inservice training significantly the same as all 183 respondents taken as a group. The exceptions were; the Canfarm, the FBM resource specialists, the SFDP and the Quebec groupings. All of these groups ranked competency area K closer to one and therefore more needed than did all 183 respondents taken as a group. Each of these groupings also ranked other competency areas quite differently from the group of all 183. Following are these competency areas;

		*	•
•	Respondent Groupings	Competency areas ranked closer to one and there- fore suggesting a greater felt need for future training.	Competency areas ranked closer to eleven and therefore suggesting a lesser felt need for future training.
	Canfarm	В, К	A, G, I
	FBM Resource Specialists	. В, К	C, G
	SFDP	D, K	C, E, G
	Quebec	J, K	E, G

Other Courses of Assistance in Farm Business Management Counselling

Question 6 of the questionnaire read; "Please elaborate on any other courses that you have taken that assist you in your work in FBM

t,

counselling but have not been covered so far in the questionnaire?". The responses are summaried in Table 17.

TABLE 17

OTHER COURSES OF ASSISTANCE IN FBM COUNSELLING

Course Types	Number of Response	s
University (usually taken on a part time basis)	and the second	
FBM	14	
Extension	•	
Other (Marketing, etc.)	10	ζ
nservice Training	• •	
, Informal Staff Meetings	· 4	
FBM	20	·
Faxation	3	
Extension	12	J
Other Inservice Training /	3	•
her	•	C.
Appraisal Institute of Canada	17 ^a	• ·
	0	

the numbers do not stand for respondents, but the number of times the item was mentioned, that is one respondent could suggest more than one item. Many of the courses mentioned had specific titles which were dropped or grouped together for analysis purposes.

a All 17 are FCC Farm Credit Advisors.

Respondents Suggestions for Future Training of Farm Business Management Counsellors

It can be seen from Table 18 that most of the suggestions for future training included more practically oriented training, with emphasis on the communication and interviewing skills. The suggestions for practical training ranged from, including it in university courses, to incorporating it as part of inservice training, to the suggestion that a person could not be a good FBM counsellor unless he was born and raised on a farm. Two respondents suggested that FBM workers be given some form of study leave every few years. This leave could be spent working on a farm to keep in contact with management at the farm level. The suggestion for future training in communications and interviewing skills effects much of what has been discovered in the analysis.

Table 18 analyzes the respondents' suggestions in an efficient but rather cold and lackluster manner. It was evident upon reading over the answers to this question that emotions were involved. It would be repetitious to list all their comments here, however there are some that do bear repeating.

Several suggestions dealt with the importance of the communicating, counselling, and interviewing skills of competency area A. The foll wing comments perhaps best sum the general feelings.

> i) Perhaps the greatest weakness in all training is in the area of people oriented training. How to listen, how to bring out real needs and wants, how to help identify family or individual goals, or encourage people to seek them. So often it is not what training we have received that helps us serve clients but how we go about it that results in a successful

service.

TABLE 18

ί

Types of Suggestions	Number of Responses
Practical experience (at university, in inservice training and in personal back- ground)	46
Study Leave (to keep in touch with real life farming)	2
More Courses (both at university and at inservice training):	~
Production Economics	4
Business Management	11
Agricultural Economics in general	2
Communication & Interviewing Skills	33
Extension Methods and Sociology	8
Farm Records and Analysi's Law	9
Estate Planning	6
Taxation	4
	7
Money Management	- 6
ni Up-date sessions	5

NOTE: The numbers do not stand for respondents, but the number of times the item was suggested, that is to say, one respondent could Q suggest more than one item.

114

ii) More careful selection of counsellors. Some of those
chosen may know farm business management processes but do not
give the farmer a chance to express himself prior to counselling... Must have natural ability to communicate.
iii) Be practical and be able to establish rapport with clients.

This is what counsellors should be taught. All the knowledge in the world is not worth a "tinker's damn' if the counsellor cannot get the client's confidence.

iv) In depth farm management counselling inevitably involves the knowledge of human relationships, as often the problem hinges on human factors as well as, or rather than, economic and management factors,

v) Box A12 is to me the most important box of the whole chart. Without A12, ie., client motivation, nothing else matters, that is to day, the other boxes will not be used in helping to motivate the client because many are important in motivation.

Practical education and training is a major concern of many respondents and perhaps summerized best in the following comments.

i) The main suggestion I have is to refrain from theory as opposed to practical experience. A farm background is almost a necessity in order to assess a farm, the operator and his ability. I spent four years taking in theory at university but I found that my farm upbringing was more valuable than my university education. You need the theory but farmers are very annoyed at advisors who advise from pat answers in a book. 11) Farm Business Management Counsellors should be required to take leave from their department every 5-10 years, in order to work on a farm, on all aspects of practical farm management. Many farm management counsellors are too theoretical. They can run a business on paper but not in practice. If the counsellor isn't a knowledgeable and successful manager himself, thenthhe shouldn't be advising others how to manage.

iii) Experience is a very good teacher; this coupled with formal education and a 'whole lot of plain ordinary common sense' is a good combination.

iv) If they (FBM counsellors) don't have a real understanding of the day to day activities of farmers, the usefulness of their services will be greatly reduced.

Many respondents think that this practical education is the responsibility of the universities.

i) University courses at an undergraduate level should be more practical, dealing more with farms for extension and management purposes as well as giving a sound basis in theory.

ii) A more practical approach. Less emphasis on the pure agricultural sciences and theoretical studies, eg., statistics, computer programming, mathematics; and a greater emphasis on farming at the grassroots level. Actual experience of farming is invaluable when communicating with farmers.
iii) The graduate courses I have taken were not on a sufficient practical level.

The following comments suggest how this 'practical' education should be approached.

Let's depolarize the 'practical - theoretical' syndrome.
 We should recognize theory and basic principles as necessary conditions within which the practical approach is taken to solve problems.

11) I feel that university training should be some what general; on the job experience and short courses will provide training in specific areas, eg., farm records, farm transfers, and business arrangements.

Many respondents had some rather interesting suggestions as to how training of FBM counsellors should be carried out. Naturally not all the comments could be included, but some of the more interesting ones are listed below.

1. A special FBM counselling course should be set up.

I think it is impossible for universities to expect that they can train good farm business management counsellors since they attempt to give a broad base of knowledge for any type of agriculture job. Four years is too short to turn out 'experts' in every area. Instead I would like to see a recognized farm business management course established to the four western provinces that would train staff when they begin their jobs. They could take a two to three month 'leave of absence' or call it 'inservice training' go to this central school for farm business management coursellors and learn nearly all aspects of farm business management before actually starting their farm management jobs. 2. Should use actual farm managers and management specialists at the university level.

I believe we must start making more use of actual farm managers and management specialists in the field at the university and college level. It is these people who know what the student will be facing and can expose them to

• the practical side.

3. Recommend a form of apprenticeship or on the job training.

i) My only suggestion is the inclusion of on the job training as part of the requirement of a university degree. The isolated campus training is no substitute for work experience. ii) It would be most beneficial both to employers and graduates if all students were compelled to article prior to receiving their diplomas as they do in other professions. iii) This makes me think that on the job training is most important in this and in many other fields. University training provides us with concepts and hopefully developes the ability to learn, to analyze, to organize, to evaluate etc. Much of what we need must be learned on the job. Should we have counsellors or tutors who would work with individuals, would assess the work of these individuals, and offer suggestions for improvement. If we are learning at college, there are professors to point out our errors. On the job, where most of our training takes place, there is often no one to critisize constructively.

4. DACUM material may be key to training.

1) The DACUM approach, developed fully, with self testing

in each of the skills necessary to a particular job should enable all FBM counsellors to fulfill skill All (Recognize Need For and Implement Personal Updating Program). The result should be a demand for material, seminars, or courses which will provide for the fulfillment of training needs on the job or inservice when the massive undertaking of providing material or packages is completed, employees will have to be sold on providing some time each year for upgrading.

ii) If counsellors could take the material in the DACUM . chart they would not have to go to university.

5. Training should include:

1) They (inservice training courses) should be 8 hours per day dessions with workshops and homework, also grades could be considered.

11) Too often a course is put on and the person doesn't go back home and use it. Prospective course attenders should be required to find a problem, work on it and come to the course with their problems.

iii) Inservice training in areas of crops, livestock, engineering, etc., are very important for the farm management counsellor.

iv) Insist that farm business management counsellors take courses in animal, plant, and soil science as well as economics, when attending university. Provide a balance of inservice training and back to university updates on each area of competence. It may be possible to learn skills through home study of information available. v) Future counsellors need a good general training in crop and livestock production and agricultural economics prior to specialization.

Finally, there were a few comments that were different from the others, but may show how many professionals working in the area of FBM counselling feel.

1. University is for learning how to learn.

On the job training would appear to be the most effective. University programs need to teach us how to learn, that is not teach subject matter to the exclusion of learning how to learn.

2. Universiy's training not all bad.

I came out of university, understanding the principles of agricultural extension and rural sociology. My experience on the job and at inservice training sessions has been built on this base of knowledge and the basic principles still guide me in my day to day encounters. So, for me, this route has been quite satisfactory.

3. Farm Management is a package.

Farm Management is building a package. None of us can become knowledgeable or totally competent in all of its broad aspects. Extension agents may develop one or two specialties but we are actually consultants who must determine what a client's needs really are, where to go for assistance, who can provide competent advice, and assist in aiding him to tie the package together. Co-operating and communicating with other professional people is most important; be it legal, accounting, financial, productive, markets, etc.

CIMPTER V

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary

Skill needs and training programs for professionals working in the area of FBM counselling in Canada were investigated and analyzed. First, university education relating to FBM at the eight Canadian universities offering courses towards degrees in agriculture was analyzed for its quality and quantity. Secondly, inservice training programs and philosophy relating to FBM at the ten provincial departments of agriculture as well as FCC, Canfarm and the SFDP were described. Finally, professionals working in the area of FPM counselling in Canada were asked to indicate; 1. what they felt were their skill needs, 2. where they acquired these skills, 3. how important their university education is in fulfilling the requirements of their jobs, 4. how important their past inservice training is to fulfilling the requirements of their job, and 5. what future inservice training they feel they need. This information was gathered by interviewing representatives from each university and government agency as well as sending out a questionnaire to a representative sample of professionals working in the area of FBM counselling in Canada.

Conclusions

Farm Business Management Education at Universities

It can be concluded upon reviewing the literature dealing with university education, visiting the various institutions and studying the courses offered, that in general, university undergraduate education in FBM provides an adequate base upon which the graduate can further specialize and expand. The universities concentrate on the principles and basic concepts needed in FBM counselling, within the context of a general agricultural economics education at the bachelor level..

The FBM counselling skills taught at the universities visited are usually included in the FBM and related courses. All the universities offer at least one FBM course which they recommend students interested in the subject elect, however, most universities do not require agricultural economics students to take these courses. The size of these FBM classes is increasing at most universities. They include non agricultural economics majors, thus showing a growing interest in the subject, especially as a complement to other, fields of interest. It appears the only FBM counselling skills not covered in most of the FBM courses are those in competency area A (Communicate, Counsel, and Interview) and B (Plan, Implement, and Eveluate Farm Management Training and Extension Programs). These skills usually warrant special courses of their own, however, courses in these areas are usually not offered to or required by students interested in FBM.

A questionable area in university FBM education is the tendency to concentrate a great deal on one of the latest tools in FBM, the computer. The advantages of using linear programming and other computer models in demonstrating to the student the many interrelationships involved in FBM cannot be disputed. However, requiring students to build linear programming and other computer models, no matter how simple, in lieu of more concentration on the principles and concepts that will be used more on the job, appears questionable. Skill K4, utilize computer applications in FBM, was ranked quite low and unimportant by all respondent groupings, other than FBM resource specialists and Canfarm employees,

and even they ranked it fortith and thirty-third respectively. It can be concluded that the skill involving applications of computer models is not considered important by professionals working in the area of FBM counselling and therefore should not be over emphasized in their training. The Efterature reviewed stated that undergraduate education should avoid too much specialization. A high concentration on, any one or 'a group of tools may constitute over specialization. The literature also stated that undergraduate education should involve itself with the teaching of principles and basic concepts, installing within the student the desire to learn more about his field of interset. Over emphasis of a mere tool takes valuable time away from the learning of the more important and usable aspects of FBM counselling.

124

Farm Business Management Inservice Training at Government Agencies

It can be concluded upon reviewing the literature and visiting the various government agencies, that inservice training in FBM counselling in Canada is not meeting its potential for training FBM counsellors in needed on the job skills. Two facts that add merit to this conclusion are; 1. that only 14% of the respondents indicated they had degrees with majors in Agricultural Economics, thus implying a need for further train-1 ing in this area, and 2. that an average of less than 20% of the respondents said they' acquired competence in the FBM skills from inservice training. It should also be noted that the experts with the OECD recommended a three month comprehensive FBM course to new staff and no FBM course less than two weeks in duration.¹ It was found that the majority

Advisory Work in Farm Management, OECD No. 77, pp. 120-121.

of these government inservice training courses were the shorter two to three day sessions on specific subjects in FBM, exactly what the OECD condemns. This fact does not necessarily condemn FBM, inservice training at government agencies to mediocrity, however, it may be a contributing factor to its low rating in skill acquisition.

Survey of Agency Professionals

Skill Needs

It can be concluded from the analysis in Chapter IV that respondents generally feel that most of the skills on the DACUM chart for FBM counselling are important and used. In fact, the skills in competency areas, A, C, E and F were rated and ranked the most important and useful, whereas the skills in competency area J and many of the skills in competency areas G and H were rated and ranked as being the least important and useful. There were no significant differences between the rankings of the individual skills by the respondent groupings and only the Quebec and SFDP groups ranked the importance of the competency areas significantly different from all 183 respondents taken as a group.

Skill Acquisition

All respondents felt they acquired most of their FBM counselling skills while working on the job, and very little at university or inservice training. A possible reason could be that the question did not give the respondent an opportunity to state where he acquired competence in the underlying principles for each skill. If this were done, university and inservice training would-most likely be rated much higher.

It is for this reason that the CAP system of competency-based training, discussed in Chapter II, should have been used and should be used in any future atudy of skill needs and training program, especially when dealing with professional occupations. The CAP process has the capacity for dealing with underlying principles and basic concepts by dissecting each skill into various levels of competency required within the cognitive, affective and psychomotor domains.

Relatively few respondents, averaging around 8% reported a lack of competence in competency areas that were ranked high in importance and use. Higher rates of noncompetence were reported, averaging around 35% in those competency areas ranked lower and loss important to the job of FBM counselling. It can be concluded therefore that respondents generally feel competent in those skills they perceive as important and used more frequently of the job.

Perceived Importance of University Course Types

A major conclusion stemming from the analysis in Chapter IV of the importance and use of the various university course types to the job of FBM counselling is that all respondent groupings ranked the course types significantly the same as all respondents with at least bachelor degrees taken as a group. All respondent groupings also ranked FBM and production economics, animal science, plant science, general economics and business, and tural sociology and extension courses the top five in importance and use. This could be interpreted as a reflection of the respondent's selected major courses while at university since it was found that a high degree of correlation existed between the 'rankings of course type emphasis while at university and course type importance and use on the job. However, this can also be construed as an indication that professionals working in the area of FBM counselling require courses in animal science, plant science, general economics, and extension education in addition to HBM courses to properly fulfill the commitments of their jobs. This particular conclusion however needs further research for complete verification.

Inservice Training

The results of the analysis of inservice training in Chapter IV indicate that respondents as a whole perceive their past enservice training in areas of FBM as important to the job and that the need for future training is not urgent, but required in most areas. The results floo indicate that if a competency area is ranked high in importance and use to the job of FBM counselling it will also be ranked high in importance of past inservice training and high in need for future inservice training. Finally, the results indicate that the rankings of these variables by all 183 respondents with at least bachelor degrees taken as a group represent all respondent groupings except the Quebec, FEM resources specialist, Canfarm, and SFDP groups. Therefore it can be concluded that further training is wanted in competency areas E, A, I, C, F and G and one can add competency areas B and K for the Canfarm and FBM resource specialist groups, competency areas D and K for the SFDP staff, and competency areas J and K for the Quebec group.

Recommendations

University Education

1) That the universities offering courses towards degrees in agriculture continue to offer the courses related to FBM counselling with their present content. However, these universities should be conscious

of u problems of teaching the use of mere tools (the computer) if this means tranferring valuable time from the teaching of basic prin--ciples and concepts.

2) That FBM majors be required to take courses in animal science, plant science, general economics and business, and rural sociology and extension in addition to FBM and production economics.

Inservice Training

J) That the people responsible for inservice training seriously consider the remarks made in Chapters 11 and IV. A comprehensive FBM inservice training program should be organized on a regional basis throughout Canada. The course should include competency-based occupational training materials (DACHM and CAP) and follow the OECD recommendations according to format. Its objective would be to take recent graduates now working in the area of FBM counselling and teach them the important skills they will need. All types of professionals working in FBM should be encouraged and allowed to attend, since it was discovered that all respondent groupings ranked their training needs significantly similar. The course could be organized on a regional basis such as; British Columbia and the Prairies, with a possible location at Olds, Alberta; Quebec, with a possible location at Laval University, Quebec City; Ontario, with a possible location at Guelph, Ontario; and the Maritimes, with a possible location at Truro, Nova Scotia.

2) That the further training of experienced FBM counsellors be handled by giving them access to the competency-based materials for individualized learning being produced by the FBM training project of the CFMC. Special courses lasting a couple of weeks, should be organized on a yearly and regional basis, perhaps at the same locations as mentioned above, for problem areas that many arise.

3) That future FBM training be practically oriented and include material on communications, counselling and interviewing as well as competency areas C, E, F, I, G and K.

General

1) That the CFMC seriously consider adopting some of the features of the CAP process into their DACUM training project. The CAP feature that warrants special attention is the aspect of using the cognitive, affective, and psychomotor domains of learning when developing the performance objectives for each skill.

2) That research be continued in the area of skill needs and training programs for professionals working in the area of FBM counselling because the needs and scope of this profession are changing rapidly.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

5

Adams, R.E. DACUM Approach to Curriculum, Learning and Evaluation in Occupational Training, 2nd ed. Ottawa: Canada Newstart Program, 1973.

Advisory Work in Farm Management. Documentation in Agriculture and Food, No. 77, Paris: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, 1966.

Black, John D.; Marion, Clawson; Charles R. Sayre; and Walter W. Wilcox. Farm Management New York: Macmillan Co., 1947.

Boehlje, Micheal; Vernon Eidman; and Odel Walker. "An Approach to Farm Management Education." <u>American Journal of Agricultural Econo-</u> <u>mics</u> 55 (May 1973). pp. 192-197.

- Bouchard, Andre. "Training Needs Felt by County Agricultural Agents of Quebec." In <u>Proceedings of the Canadian Society of Rural Exten-</u> <u>sion 9th Annual Meeting and Convention</u>. (Meetings held at <u>McMaster University, Hamilton, June 23-27, 1968).</u> n.p., June 1968. pp. 35-37.
- Colwell, H.T.M. "Business Games and the Teaching of Farm Management in Great Britain." <u>Agricultural Progress</u> 48 (1973). pp. 132-148.

Corbridge, I.L. "Farm Business Management Counselling." Report to the Extension-Education Sub-Committee of the Canadian Farm Management Committee, n.p., (1975). (Mimeographed).

Corbridge, I.L. and T.A. Petersen. "Farm Business Management Training Program." <u>Canadian Farm Economics</u> 11 (April 1976). pp. 26-31.

Farm Management Extension Sub-Committee of the Canadian Farm Management Committee, "Survey on the Present Status and Future Programs and Needs," n.p., 1970. (Typewritten).

Farquahar, R.N. Agricultural Education in Australia. Forwarded by W.C. Radford. Hawthorn: Australian Council for Educational Research, 1966.

Gras, Norman S.B. <u>A History of Agriculture in Europe and America</u>. 2nd ed. New York: F.S. Crofts & Co., 1960.

Heard, R.F. "The Role of the Farm Budiness Management Consultant," In <u>Proceedings of the Canadian Society of Rural Extension 9th Annual</u> <u>Meeting and Convention</u>. (Meeting held at McMaster University, Hamilton, June 23-27, 1968). n.p., June 1968. pp. 80-83.

Herbst, J.H. Farm Management Principles, Budgets, Plans. rev. 1970; 1974. Chaimpaign, Illinois: Stipes Publishing Co., 1968. Manning, Travis W. "Graduate Education in Agricultural Economics." <u>Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics</u> 14 (July 1966), pp. 1-14.

Manual, D. and A. Deane. "CAP A Flexible Training System." Canadian Vocational Journal 12 No. 1 (April 1976), pp. 19-22.

Miller, Delbert C. <u>Handbook of Research Design and Social Measurement</u>. 2nd.ed. New York: David McKay Company Inc., 1970.

- Nicholls, William H. "Higher Education and Agricultural Economics: A Critical Appraisal." <u>Journal of Farm Economics</u> 42 (December 1960), pp. 969-990.
- Purnell, G.R. "Extension Economics The Next Ten Years" in <u>Proceedings</u> of the Canadian Society of Rural Extension 7th Annual Meeting and Convention. Theme: Meeting the Needs of the Rural Community. (Meeting held at the University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, June 28-30, 1966). n.p., March 1967. pp. 56-64.

Rasmusson, L.W. "Agricultural Extension Training Needs in Alberta," A Summary of Master's Thesis, Colorado State University, 1960.

- Rook, J.A.F. "High Education in Agriculture." <u>Agricultural Progress</u> 48 (1973), pp. 85-90.
- Siegel, Sidney. <u>Nonparametric Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1956.
- Sjo, John; Frank Orazem; and Arlo Biere. "Undergraduate Program Revision at Kansas State University." <u>American Journal of Agricultural</u> <u>Economics</u> 55 (November 1973), pp. 604-610.

Warren, G.F. Farm Management. New York: The Macmillan Co., 1917.

.

- Williams, C.M. "A Curriculum for Animal Extension Specialists." In <u>Proceedings of the Canadian Society of Rural Extension 7th</u> <u>Annual Meeting and Convention. Theme: Meeting the Needs of the</u> <u>Rural Community</u>, (Meeting held at the University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, June 28-30, 1966). n.p., March 1967, pp. 53-56.
- Williams, D.B. Agricultural Extension: Farm Extension Services in Australia, Britsin and the United States of America. Carlton: Melbourne University Press, 1968.
- Yang, W.Y. <u>Methods of Farm Management Investigation for Improving Farm</u> <u>Productivity</u>. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 1965.

Appendix A

DACUM Chart for Farm Business Management Counselling

Α	LISTEN	PREPARE BUSINESS CORRESPONDENCE, REPORTS AND BRIEFS	TIONAL AND PRESENT	IDENTIFY BARRIERS AND BREAKDOWN IN COMMUNICATION	CREATE RECEPTIVE ATMOSPHERE
	A1	A? A3	A4	A5	A6 .
COMMUNICATE, COUNSEL AND INTERVIEW	ESTABLISH RAPPORT WITH CLIENTS	USE CONFERENCE LEADERSHIP SKILLS INTERVIEW SESSIONS	SPEAK EFFECTIVELY	RECOGNIZE NELD FOR AND IMPLEMENT PERSONAL UPDATING PROGRAM	IDENTIFY NEEDS. CIPCUMSTANCES AND MOTIVATION OF CLIENTS
	A7	A3 A9	A10		A12
	RECOGNIZE AND IMPROVE UPON PERSONAL COMMUNICATION LIMITATIONS A13				
В	WORK WITH FARM ORGANIZATIONS	ASSESS LEADERSHIP STRUCTURE OF COMMUNITY INFORMATIC	ARMER ANALYSIS	COLLECT AND ANALYZE INFORMATION	IDENTIFY NEEDS PRIORITIES
PLAN,	B1	B2 - B3	B4	85	26
IMPLEMENT & EVALUATE FARM MANAGEMENT TRAENING AND	CREATE EFFECTIVE PROCRAMS FOR IMPLEMENTING CHANGE	FORMULATE AND GARRY OUT PROGRAMS RESOURCES	ND PREPARE PROGRAM SCHEDULES	IDENTIFY, SELECT AND USE EVALUATION FECHNIQUES	AUALYZE EVALUATION RESULTS
EXTENSION PROGRAMS	B7	B8 B9	, B10	B11	B12
	SELECT METHODS OF TRAINING	SELECT AND UTILIZE A/V AIDS PRESENTATIONS	D UTILIZE	IDENTIFY AND UTILIZE REGIONAL DIFFUSION PROCESSES	
	B13	B14 B15	816	B17 4	
С	PREPARE AND MAINTAIN CLIMATIC RECORDS	PREPARE AND MAINTAIN FARM MACHINERY AND SERVICE RECORDS	PREPARE CROP PRODUCTION RECORDS	PREPARE AND MAINTAIN PAYROLL RECORDS	PREPARE AND MAINTAIN LABOUR USE RECORDS
SSIST IN		C2 0 C3	C4	C5	C5
NG.	SET UP AND MAINTAIN FILING SYSTEMS	PREPARE A LIST OF ASSETS & INCOME LIABILITIES STATEMENT	MAINTAIN RECORD OF INCOME AND EXPENSES	PREPARE AND MAINTAIN CREDIT RECORUS	PREPARE ENTERPRIZE COST AND RETURN RECORDS
ECORDS	C7	C8 C9	C10	C11	C12
	PREPARE INCOME TAX RETURNS	PREPARE NET - PPEPARE CAS WORTH STATEMENT FLOW STATEM		APPLY FARM RECORDS IN	IDENTIFY AND SELECT SCCOUNTING YSTEMS
L	C13	C14 C15	C16	C17	C18

.`

ï

0						
OBTAIN AND	ADVISE ON ECONOMIC IMPLICATION OF FARM LAYOU	ADVISE ON : ECONOMIC IMPLICATION OF CROP MANAGEMENT PRACTICES D2	ADVISE ON ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS OF LIVESTOCK PPACTILES	ADVISE ON ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS OF SOIL-WATER MAN- AGEMENT PRACTIC	THELTHESS OF	DF NDD LADVISE CN "ACHIMERY,- LABOUR COMBINATIONS
PHYSICAL RESOURCES	ADVISE ON MAKING MACHINERY MANAGEMENT	ADVISE ON APPRAISAL	ADVISE ON LEASING AND	ADVISE ON		D6
.€.	DECISIONS	TECHNIQUES	RENTAL	ALTERNATE METHODS OF RESOURCE ACQUISITION		
			00	010	-1	
E	CALCULATE CREDIT COSTS	ASSIST IN INSURANCE PLANNING	ADVISE ON LOAN APPLICATION AND NEGOTIATION	ASSIST IN PREPARATION OF CASH FLOW PROJECTIONS	ADVISE IN CONTINGENCY PLANNING IN EMERGENCY	ASSESS CREDIT REEDS
ADVISE ON FINANCIAL	E1	E2	E3 1	E4	E5	
MAHAGEMENT	EVALUATE AND RECOMMEND ON REPAYMENT ALTERNATIVES	COMPUTE AND EXPLAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	EVALUATE AND RECOMMEND ALTERNATIVE FINANCIAL SOURCES	ADVISE ON TAX MANAGEMENT	ADVISE ON FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF BUSINESS	ASSIST IN CAPITAL BUDGETING
	E7	E8	E9		STRUCTURE	
F	IDENTIFY AND EVALUATE AVAIL-	ASSIST FARMER TO	A:WLYZE EFFECT	ADVISE ON		512
DEVELOP AND EVALUATE	ABLE RESOURCES & MANAGEMENT ABILITY	IDENTIFY OBJECTIVES	OF FARM ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS	PLANNING OF PURCHASED INPUTS	IGENTIFY ENTER- PRISE &/OR PEO- DUCTION ALTERNA- TIVES & LIST CORRESPONDING	PREPARE A USE COMPLETE BUDGETS
ALTERNATIVE FARM	[. F1 .]	F2	F3	F4	PRACTICES F5	F5
PLANS	PREPARE & USE PARTIAL BUDGETS	DETERMINE LEAST- COST PRODUCTION METHODS	ASSIST IN ANALYSIS OF INPUT- OUTPUT BUDGETS FOR PRODUCTION ALTERNATIVES	EVALUATE ALTERNATIVE GRCWTH STRATEGIES	ASSIST IN PREPARATION OF COMPLETE FARM PLAN	
	F7	FB	F9	F10	FIL	1.
ADVISE ON MANAGEMENT IMPLICAT-	ADVISE ON MANAGE- MENT. IMPLICATIONS OF LABOUR LAWS & LUGISLATION	ADVISE ON MANAGE- MENT IMPLICATIONS OF HEALTH AND WELFARE LAWS AND LEGISLATION	OF LAWS AND LEGISLATION ON CONTRACTS	ADVISE ON MANAGE- NENT IMPLICATIONS OF REAL ESTATE LAWS AND LEGISLATION	ADVISE ON MANAGE- MENT IMPLICATIONS OF LIABILITY LAWS	ADVISE ON MAWAGE MENT IMPLICATIONS OF MARKETING LAWS AND LEGISLATION
IONS OF LAWS AND	ADVISE CH MANAGE-	l	G3	<u>G4</u>	65	66
AFFECTING C FARMERS L	TENT IMPLICATIONS PEROVINCIAL TAX AWS AND EGISLATION G7	MENT IMPLICATIONS OF SUCCESSION DUTY & GIFT TAX	LAWS AND ES	WILLS AND TATE LAWS AND	OF ENVIRONMENTAL	ADVISE ON MANAGE- MENT INPLICATIONS OF RELATED LAWS AND LEGISLATION
H	DVISE ON			610	<u>611</u>	612
	OR LIVESTOCK	MARKETING PRACTICES FOR	SELECTION OF SEL APRET OUTLETS HAR OF LIVESTOCK PRA RODUCTS LIVESTOCK PRA	RKETING	OR GRAINS	ADVISE 0:1 SELECTION OF WARKETING PACTICES FOR RAINS
STRATEGY	DVISE ON			н4	н5	не
SE MA FO	LECTION OF RKET OUTLETS R OTHER CROPS	SELECTION OF MARKETING RACTICES FOR DTHER CROPS	ND OUTLOOK HA	DERMALIVE 0	DVISE ON USE F THE FUTURES ARKET	
	H7	на II	ня			
ADVISE ON FATHER-SON 1 ADVISE ON ADVISE O' ADVISE ON ADVISE ON USE USING THE SOLE PROPRIETORSHIP ADVISE ON RENTAL AND SETTING UP OF PARTNERSHIPS USE OF LEASE AGREEMENTS DUSTNESS AGREEMENTS CORPORATIONS FOFI: OF ARRADGEMENTS ORGANIZATION •--11 12 13 14 15 ADVISE ON 16 ESTATE ADVISE ON USING ATVISE ON ADVISE ON ADVISE ON PLANNING THE COOPERATIVE FORM OF BUSINESS SETTING UP RETIREMENT ESTABLISHING FAEM TRANSFER PREPARING AND UPDATING WILLS AND BUSINESS ARRANGE-GRGANIZATIO:IS PLASS PLANS . MENTS 17 18 19 110 . J PREPARE JOB PPEPARE FOR PLAND AND ASSIST IN DESCRIPTIONS DELEGATE ESTABLISH SPECIFICATIONS SCHEDULE WORK ESTABLISHING AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY TREENTIVE PROGRAMS SAFETY PROGPANS INFORM & ADVISE ON JI . J2 J3 J4 J5 36 CONCEPTS DEVELOP AND INPLEMENT FRINGE BENEFIT ASSESS DEVELOP OF DETERMINE PLAND AND EVALUATE PERSONNEL TERMINATION RECRUITING AND STAFF CONDUCT TRAINING PRODUCTIVITY OF STAFF PROCEDURES MANAGEHENT SELECTION PLAN REQUIREMENTS PROGRAMS PROGRAMS J7 J8 J10.1 111 CEVELOP TERMS AND CONDITIONS OFTEMPLOYMENT J13 Κ APPLY ECONOMIC PRINCIPLES TO APPLY DECISION ASSESS & USE UTILIZE COMPUTER ASSIST AND ASVISE IN ESTAELISHING FARM FAMILY MAKING & MANAGEMENT **IDENTIFY** INFORMATION APPLICATIONS IN FARM BUSINESS BUSTNESS CHAPACTERISTICS SOURCES PLANNING OF GOUD MANAGERS PROCESSES MANAGEMENT & ASSESS MANAGE-OBJECTIVES INFORM & ADVISE ON BUSINESS ĸĩ K2 К3 K.4 K5 K6 ٠ MANAGEMENT CONCEPTS AND PROCESSES

8

133

1

APPENDIX B

List of Questions

Please study the enclosed DACUM chart for Farm Business Management Counselling before answering the following questions.

Years of General experience in Agricultural Extension.____

1. In which of the following position classifications do you consider

yourself to be in? (circle the letter)

Name:

Position:

Employing Organization:

A. General Agricultural Extension (ie., working in all aspects of Agricultural Extension of which Farm Business Management is only a part)

6°

- B. Farm Credit Advisor
- C. Farm Business Management Counsellor (ie., working almost exclusively with farmers and groups of farmers in aspects of Farm Business Management Counselling as outlined in the attached Dacum chart)
- D. Farm Business Management Resource Specialist (ie., working as a resource person in Farm Business Management for other staff in the organization)

E. Other (specify)_____

2. Approximately what percentage of your time is spent working with and advising farmers in aspects of Farm Business Management Counselling as outlined in the enclosed DACUM chart? 3. The objective here is to find out what skills are the most important to professionals working in Farm Business Management Counselling. Please use the enclosed Dacum chart for Farm Business Management Counselling.

a) According to the scale below rate each <u>area of competence</u> (larger lettered boxes on the left) as to its importance in performing the job of Farm Business Management Counselling.

B) In many cases there are some <u>skills</u> in each area of competence that may not be as important or are more important than the other skills. Unfortunately, it would take one person far too long to rate the importance of all 133 <u>skills</u>. Therefore; please rate only those skills included in the areas of competence. Other respondents will be asked to rate the <u>skills</u> in the other areas of competence. However, feel free to rate all the skills if you wish. Rating scale for a and b

1.not important (used very infrequently)
2.limited importance (limited use or can refer to a specialist)
3.occasionally very important (used only occasionally but must have a working knowledge of it)

4.most important (used often and must have full competence in it)
c) Also please indicate what you feel was the most important
source for acquiring competence in those skills rated.

A. university

C. on the job

•	B. inservice to	raining programs	D. competer	ncy not acquired
Example	\$ •		L.	• •
D 3 OBTAIN AND MANAGE PHYSICAL	ADVISE ON ECONOMIC IMPLICATION OF FARM LAYOUT	ADVISE ON ECONOMIC IMPLICATION OF CROP MANAGEMENT PPACTICES D2 4 C	ADVISE ON ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS OF LIVESTOCK FRACTICES D3 2 A	ADVISE ON ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS OF SOIL-WATER MAN- ACEMENT CRACTICES D4 3 8 D5
RESOURCES		1		

4. What is your educational background? (Please list the names of the institutions, degrees or diplomas held as well as majors and minors.)

A. Technical or Vocational School -

B. Agricultural Vocational School -C. University Bachelor Degree -D. University Graduate Degree and Thesis Title -

5. University Education (Please fill in Table 1 on the following page.)

a) Indicate the approximate percentage of time spent in your university bachelor and, if applicable, graduate program on each of the course types outlined in Table 1.

b) Rate (see scale below) the importance of these course types in performing the skills needed in Farm Business Management Counselling.

1. not important (used very infrequently)

2. limited importance (limited use or can refer to a specialis.) -

3. occasionally very important (used only occasionally but must have a working knowledge of it)

4. most important (used often and must have full competence in it)

		N	
Table 1	•	, a) Time	
Course Type			b)Importance
B. Agribusiness Management	and a second	5%	2
	and the second sec	•	

<u>Table 1</u>

Ì

0

	. •	
Course Type	a) Time	•
I. Agricultural Economics	Spent	b)Importance
A. Quantitative Methods (statistics, econo- metrics, etc.)		
B. Agribusiness Management		1
C. Farm Business Management and Production Economics		
D. Rural Sociology and Extension	1	
E. Natural Resource Economics		
F. Policy and Development		
G, Marketing and Trade		
2. Other related Social Sciences (Sociology, Psychology, etc.)		
3. General Economics and Business		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
4. Agricultural Engineering		
5. Animal Science		
5. Entomology		
7. Plant Science		
3. Sofl Science		
. Other (specify)		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

Total = 100 %

5

6. Inservice Training (Please fill in Table 2 on the following page.)

-a) Indicate the approximate time spent (in days) on each of the areas of competence in Farm Business Management Counselling, as outlined in Table 2, at the various inservice training courses you have taken in the last 3 years.

b) Rate (see scale below) the importance of these inservice training courses you have taken in relation to the job of Farm Business Management Counselling.

1.not important (used very infrequently)

2.limited importance (limited use or can refer to a specialist)
3.occasionally very important (used only occasionally but must have a working knowledge of it)

4.most important (used often and must have full competence in it)

c) Indicate (see scale below) to what extent training is needed in each of these areas of Farm Business Management Counselling.

0. sufficient training already available

1. not needed (used very infrequently)

2. limited need (can get by without)

3. needed (would attend course if provided)

4. great need (definite lack of training in this area)

E	xa	шp	le	

Table 2 Area of Competence	a) Total Training Days	b) Importance	
B. Advise on Financial Management	105	4	Needed 3

Table 2

Area of Competence	a) Total Training Days	b). Importance	Training Needed
A. Communicate, Counsel & Interview		~	
8. Plan, Implement & Evaluate Farm Management Training & Extension Programs	.		
Assist in Establishing, Maintaining & Utilizing Farm Records	-		
. Obtain & Manage Physical Resourses			
Advise on Financial A	1		•
. Develop & Evaluate Alternative Farm Business Plans			
Advise on Management Implications of Laws & Legislation Affecting Farmers	₹	~	
Advise on Marketing Strategy	I	ľ	
Advise on Estate Planning & Business Arrangements			•
Inform & Advise on Concepts of Personnel Management	. 1		
Inform & Advise on Business Management Com apts & Processes			· .

7. Please elaborate on any other courses you have taken that assist you in your work in Farm Business Management Counselling but have not been covered so far in the questionnaire.

. .

ï

, . .

,

8. Do you have any suggestions for the future training of Farm Business Management Counsellors in Canada? If so, please elaborate.

r

•

14

,

2

٩.

.

.57

APPENDIX C

Introduction

The prime objective of this study is to describe and analyze the adequacy of university undergraduate and graduate level training and governmental inservice training for professional farm business management (F.B.M.) counsellors in Canada, and to make recommendations for in ovy ments. The study will investigate the F.B.M. skills being taught by the agricultural economics departments of the eight Canadian universities a granting degrees in agriculture (U.B.C., U. of Alberta, U. of Saskatchewan, U. of Manitoba, U. of Guelph, Laval U., MacDonald College, and Nova Scotia Agricultural College) and at inservice training courses sponsored by the provincial Departments of Agriculture, the Farm Credit Corporation, Canfarm and the Small Farm Development Program. It will also question the different categories of professionals involved in aspects of F.B.M. counselling with the above government organizations about what skills are most important to them in carrying out their jobs. In addition to this information, these professionals will be asked to indicate how important the different types of educational courses and training programs are to the fulfilling of the requirements of their jobs. Finally, administrators of F.B.M. related extension coograms will be asked what they think are the most important skills in F.B.M. counselling. The DACUM approach to curriculum, learning and evaluation in occupational training and more specifically, the DACUM chart for F.B.M. counselling designating the areas . of competence and the specific skills needed in F.B.M. counselling will be used as a basis for the study and are explained below.

Definitions

 $\underline{DACUM} - \underline{D}eveloping \underline{A} \underline{C}urricul\underline{UM} - This is an approach to the development of curricula combined with an evaluation process for occupational$

training programs.

DACUM can be defined as a single-sheet profile that serves as both a curriculum plan and an evaluation instrument for occupational programs.

It is graphic in nature, presenting definitions of the skills of an entire occupation on this single sheet of paper.

It is an analysis of the occupation rather than a curriculum evolving from an analysis. The occupation is subdivided into General Areas of Competence. Each is then analyzed to identify each skill it contains. The result is independent specification of each of the skills (behavior) that collectively enable an individual to perform competently in the occupation. These skills are defined quite simply and are structured independently in small blocks on the chart. Each can serve as an independent goal for learning achievement.

DACUM Chart for F.B.M. Counselling - The chart represents all the skills needed in all aspects of F.B.M. counselling excluding operational type skills; that is, those required to run an office etc. The chart includes eleven general areas of competence along with 133 corresponding skills in which the counsellor is expected to have a working proficiency or be able to suggest counselling sources. The chart was drawn up at Holland Callege, P.E.I. in August 1974 by the Chart Committee of the Extension

1. R.E. Adams, <u>DACUM: Approach to Curriculum</u>, Learning, and <u>Evaluation in Occupational Training. A Nova Scotia NewStart Report.</u> (Ottawa: Canada NewStart Program, 1973), p 24 Education Sub-Committee of the Canadian Farm Management Committee.²

Farm Busine, Management Counselling - It is very difficult to come up with a definition of F.B.M. counselling with which everyone will agree. It is imperative, however, that those people asked to complete the enclosed questionnaire have a clear understanding of the definition of F.B.M. counselling as used in this study. With this in mind, the DACUM approach to curriculum, learning and evaluation in occupational training and the DACUM chart for F.B.M. counselling are used as a basis for the study.

Farm business management counselling consists of working with farmers and advising them of the many aspects of F.B.M. All the skills that could possibly be required for the job of counselling are listed in the accompaning DACUM chart for F.B.M. counselling. <u>Therefore, any work</u> <u>done with farmers that fits into any of the skills (boxes) on the chart</u> will be considered part of F.B.M. counselling in this study.

2. The Chart Committee consisted of: Dr. Phil Wright. University of Guelph: Professor T.A. (Alf) Petersen, University of Alberta; John Hickie, Saskatchewan Department of Agriculture; Bruce McCorquodale, Ontario Ministry of Agriculture and Food; R.H. (Bob) Simmermen, Leadership and Training Specialist, Alberta; Alexander (Sandy) Lauder, Regional Farm Economist, Alberta; Rollie Hayman, Farm Management Specialist, Nova Scotia; Adrien Van Ekris, Representative Farmer, P.E.I.; Eric Webster, Representative Farmer, Ontario; Fred Mooney, Canfarm, Guelph; Lawrence E. Coffin, Discussion Leader, Holland College, P.E.I.; Ivan L. Corbridge, Coordinator, Farm Management Training Programs, S.F.D.P., Ottawa.

<u>Professional Farm Business Management Counsellor</u> - A professional F.B.M. counsellor in this study will be considered as any university graduate (at least the bachelor level) who spends all or part of his or her time on the job working with and advising farmers in F.B.M. and thus using the skills included in the DACUM chart for F.B.M. counselling.

Interpretation of Selected Skill Boxes and Areas of Competence

The purpose of this section is to interpret some of the more vaguely entitled skill boxes and areas of competence on the DACUM chart.

B.4 Conduct Needs Analysis - Appraise farm business management counselling needs of the farmers under your jurisdiction by preparing and studying farm business management statitics (eg. farm business analysis) and other related information.

B.5 Collect and Analyze Information - This is a summary heading for skills B.1, B.2, B.3, B.4, and B.6

B.6 Identify Needs Priorities - Applying the principle of opportunity cost to the needs analysis done in B.4; that is, selecting which farm business management extension needs are of the highest priority.

B.17 Identify and Utilize Regional Diffusion Process - Utilizing the diffusion process by recognizing the different types of adoptors and how best to communicate with them (eg., newspaper, T.V. etc.). C.15 Prepare Cash' Flow Statements - Preparing cash flow statements from historical (this year and before) records. Not to be confused with E.4 (Assist in Preparation of Cash Flow Projections) which is dealing with projected future cash flows.

D. Obtain and Manage Physical Resources - This area of competence may cause some confusion, because most of the skill boxes involve disciplines other than economics in the initial stages and therefore at that time are not the job of the farm business management counsellor. However, the skill boxes for the most part are quite clear; they state that the skill is to <u>advise on</u> the economic implications of the various aspects outlined in the area. Therefore the skills referred to here are those involving economics, not other disciplines.

D.7 A making Machinery Management Decisions - This involves disciplines other than economics, such as engineering and agronomy. However, the farm business management counsellor should be able to advise the farmer on machinery-labour combinations (D.6), replacement strategies, investment decisions, machinery maintenance scheduling, machinery sharing agreements, leasing and custom work.

D.9 Advise on Leasing and Rental Arrangements - Refers to advice on leasing and renting as a form of physical resource use and management whereas in I.1 (Advise on Rental and Lease Arrangements) it is referred to in the context of estate planning and business arrangements. E.4 Assist in Preparation of Cash Flow Projections - See interpretation of C.15.

F.5 Identify Enteprise and/or Production Alternatives and List Corresponding Prectices - Identifying the feasible enterprises and/ or production alternatives available to the farmer in his own

particular circumstances.

F.9 Assist in Analysis of Input-Output Budgets for Production Alternatives Analyzing in order to find out which is the best combination of feasible enterprises and/or production alternatives for a particular farmer.

). H.1-8 Marketing Outlets - The different buyers of the products.

Marketing Practices - The different ways of marketing the products. J. Inform and Advise on Concepts of Personnel Management - This area of competence is interpreted as meaning advising the farmer on how to manage his personnel. If you feel strong that this area should include your own office personnel as well, then please make a note of the DACUM chart when rating this area.

146

Appendix D



A

	x	D	ADVISE ON ECONOMIC IMPLICATION FARM LAYOUT		ADVISE O ECONOMIC IMPLICAT CROP MAN PRACTICE	ION OF	ADVISE ON ECONUMIC IMPLICATIC OF LIVESTO)NS	ADVISE ON ECONOMIC IMPLICATION SOIL-WATER A	12.22	TIME	SE ON US DNAL TIM	E ANOL	ADVISE CN MACHINERY LABOUR	
	OBTAIN MANAGE PHYSIC RESOUR	AL	DI. ADVISE ON MA MACHINERY	93 K1NG	ADVISE O	<u>29</u>	D3	25	AGEMENT PRAC	AS	DS	TIONS 6		CONBINATIONS	5
			MANAGEMENT DECISIONS	57.5	APPRAISA TECHNIQU		LEASING AND RENTAL ARRANGEMENT	\$	ADVISE ON ALTERNATE METHODS OF RESOURCE ACQUISITION						
	E		CALCULATE		ASSIST IN	94		70	6 010	<u>n</u>					1
	ADVISE FINANCI	ON	CREDIT COSTS	8	INSURANCE PLANNING E2	112	ADVISE ON L APPLICATION NEGOTIATION	AND	ASSIST IN PREPARATION O CASH FLOW PROJECTIONS		ADVISE CONTINC PLANNIC EMERGEN SITUATI	GENCY IG IN ICY ONS		ASSESS (REDIT	7
	MANAGEN	ENT	EVALUATE AND RECOMMEND ON		COMPUTE AN	0	EVALUATE ANI]	E5	17		E6 12]
			REPAYMENT ALTERNATIVES E7 23		E9	28	RECOMMEND ALTERNATIVE FINANCIAL SOURCES	24	ADVISE ON TA) MANAGEMENT		ADVISE FINANC IMPLICA OF BUSI STRUCTU	TAL ATIONS INESS		ASSIST IN CAPITAL BUDGETING	
	F	- 11	IDENTIFY AND EVALUATE AVAIL		ASSIST FARM	ER TO	ANALYZE EFFE		F10 63		<u>E11</u>	73		E12 40	1
	DEVELOP EVALUATE ALTERNATI FARM	VIC	ABLE RESOURCES MANAGEMENT ABILITY F1	ð 	IDENTIFY OBJECTIVES	17	OF FARM ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS		ADVISE ON PLAINING OF PURCHASED INPUTS		UCTION VES & ORRESPO PACILCE	NOTING	110	REPARE & USE MPLETE DOGETS	
	BUSINESS PLANS	P	PREPARE & USE PARTIAL UDGETS F7 20	- P I I	DÉTERMINE LI COST PRODUC METHODS F8	ION	ASSIST IN ANALYSIS OF IN OUTPUT BUDGETS FOR PRODUCTION ALTERNATIVES		EVALUATE ALTERNATIVE GROWTH STRATEGIES	A	SSIST IN REPARATION MPLETE AN	ON OF]	6 37]
	G		DVISE ON MANAGE		DVISE ON MA		F9 67		F10 74.5		11	49			
	ADVISE ON MANAGEMENT IMPLICAT- IONS OF	OF 8	AT IMPLICATION LABOUR LAWS LEGISLATION		ENT IMPLICA F HEALTH ANI ELFARE LAWS EGISLATION	TIO:IS // D 0 AND L	ADVISE ON MANACO MENT IMPLICATIO F LAWS AND EGISLATION ON ONTRACTS		ADVISE ON MANAGE MENT IMPLICATION DF REAL ESTATE AWS AND EGISLATION	I ME	'IT IMPLI	MANAGE- ICATIONS ITY LAWS ATION	OF M	SE ON MAMAGE- IMPLICATIONS ARKETING LAWS EGISLATION	İ
1	LAWS AND LEGISLATIO	171 I MEI	VISE ON MANAGE- NT IMPLICATIONS	1 1 100	VISE ON MAN	AGE AL	DVISE OU MANAGE		G4. 07 DVISE ON MANAGE			114	66	90	-
	AFFECTING	LAU	PROVINCIAL TAX AS AND DISLATION 7 88.5	DU	SUCCESSION TY & GIFT T. WS AND GISLATION GR 71		INCOME TAX WS AND GISLATION		WILLS AND WILLS AND TATE LAWS AND SISLATION	MEN OF LAH	ISE ON T IMPLIO ENVIRON S AND ISLATION	CATIONS MENTAL	OF RE	E ON MANAGE- IMPLICATIONS LATED LAWS EGISLATION	
	_H	ADV SEL	ISE ON ECTION OF	ADV	ISE ON		VISE ON		10 68	<u> (j)</u>		103.5	612	117	
W	DVISE ON ARKETING IRATEGY	MAR	KET OUTLETS LIVESTOCK	MAR PRA	ECTION OF EXETING CTICES FOR ESTOCK 2 72	SEL MAR FOR PRO	LECTION OF RKET OUTLETS R LIVESTOCK DDUCTS	PRAC PRAC PPD	VISE ON ECTION OF KETING CTICES FOR ESTOCK DUCTS	SELE MARK FOR	SE ON CTION O ET OUTLI GRAINS	EIS	MARKFT	ION OF ING CES FOR	
		SELE MARK FOR	SE ON CTION OF ET OUTLETS OTHER CROPS	SELE MARM PPAC	ISE ON CCTION OF CETING TICES FOR R CROPS	- MARI	TSE ON MET TRENDS OUTLOOK	ADV ALT MAR	ISE ON USE OF ERNATIVE KETING ANIZATIONS	ADVIS OF TH MARKE	E ON US E FUTUR T	106 ξς	HE	98	
		<u>H7</u>	107	HA	109	Н		нт	101	HTT		10	-		
				•			4								

| 14

: 1

.

149

ł

